# Evidence and processes for mainstreaming peacebuilding in climate adaptation efforts

A framework and a safeguard approach for conflictsensitive and peace-responsive climate action: the Climate Security Sensitiveness Tool (CSST)

> **December 2022** Dakar, Senegal Carolina Sarzana, George Meddings, Adriana Melgar, Peter Läderach, Grazia Pacillo



FOCUS Climate Security



# Authors

Carolina Sarzana<sup>1</sup>, Adriana Melgar<sup>1</sup>, George Meddings<sup>1</sup>, Peter Läderach<sup>1</sup>, Grazia Pacillo<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>CGIAR Focus Climate Security

# **Suggested Citation**

Sarzana C, Melgar A, Meddings G, Läderach P, Pacillo G. 2022. Evidence and processes for mainstreaming peacebuilding in climate adaptation efforts. A framework and a safeguard approach for conflict-sensitive and peace-responsive climate action: the Climate Security Sensitiveness Tool (CSST). CGIAR Focus Climate Security

This work is licensed under Creative Commons License CC BY-NC-ND 4.0.

# Acknowledgments

This work was carried out with support from the CGIAR Initiative on Climate Resilience, ClimBeR, and from Accelerating Impacts of CGIAR Climate Research for Africa, AICCRA. We would like to thank all funders who supported this research through their contributions to the <u>CGIAR Trust Fund</u>.

# Table of Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	4
2.	ENVIRONMENTAL PEACEBUILDING KNOWLEDGEBASE	5
3.	CLIMATE-PEACE FRAMEWORK (CPF)	8
Ir	NITIAL CONDITIONS	8
С	LIMATE-PEACE PATHWAYS	10
С	LIMATE-PEACE MECHANISMS AND SUB-MECHANISMS	11
	Economic development	12
	Building institutions	12
	Building trust and cooperation	13
	Resource sustainability	14
	Enhancing knowledge	15
	Building capacity and resilience	15
4.	DRIVERS OF CONFLICT AND INSECURITY	18
С	ONTEXTUALIZING INSECURITY AND CONFLICT DRIVERS THROUGH CRISIS RISK MODELS	18
L	INKING DRIVERS AND CLIMATE-PEACE MECHANISMS	20
	Natural hazards	20
	Human hazards	21
	Socio-economic vulnerabilities	21
	Vulnerable groups	22
	Lack of infrastructural coping capacity	24
	Lack of institutional coping capacity	25
5.	THE CLIMATE SECURITY SENSITIVENESS TOOL (CSST)	26
В	ACKGROUND	26
Р	URPOSE AND TARGET	27
Ν	ЛЕТНОДОLOGY	27
	Defining ideal climate-peace mechanism scores for a given context	28
	Defining climate peace mechanism scores delivered by proposed climate action intervention	29
Н	IOW TO USE THE TOOL	29
	Step 1: Context definition	29
	Step 2: Climate action scoring system	30
	Results	30
6.	CONCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS	32
7.	REFERENCES	33

### 1. Introduction

There is widespread agreement that efforts to support productive systems threatened by ongoing climate-related impacts are beneficial to secure food production and livelihoods viability. Climate adaptation programs disseminating climate-smart agricultural technologies, practices and information are proving to positively impact resilience and food and nutrition security in beneficiary countries (Mizik, 2021; Thornton et al., 2022; World Bank, 2021). However, little is known about the potential positive and negative externalities that such programs can lead to (Smith et al., 2021), especially in relation to peace and security. Maladaptation is the process whereby improperly built adaptation strategies can result in more vulnerability (Schipper, 2020). It is also referred to as climate actions that have a negative impact on the vulnerability of other systems, sectors, or social groups (Barnett & O'Neill, 2010). It can create and sustain lock-ins, magnify inequity, marginalize people, and places vulnerable to climate-related risks, such as low-income households, people who reside in informal settlements, ethnic minorities, Indigenous Peoples among others (IPCC, 2022). These are commonly recognized drivers of conflict which must be accounted for while designing programs to avoid creating or exacerbating conflicts. Acknowledging the interlinkages between climate action, natural resource use and peace and security is fundamental to integrate climate and conflict sensitive programming interventions. Maladaptive climate initiatives, neglecting those associations, have proved to foster power asymmetries, grievances, and competition for resources, especially in conflict-affected contexts (Moran et al., 2018; Krampe et al., 2021a). The case of a protected forest area project implemented in 2012 in the Prey Lang landscape in Cambodia illustrates how maladaptation can lead to conflict. This program aimed to mitigate climate impacts, conserve biodiversity, and increase equitable economic benefits to forest communities; but it however failed to include local forest users and recognize their forest management needs which led to their mobilization against the national Forest Administration resulting in a conflict over injustices (Work et al., 2019). Social and environmental safeguards for conflict-sensitive and peace-responsive climate action are critical to make sure that these interventions at least 'do no harm', and possibly undertake 'do good' approaches.

Despite a growing recognition of the importance of linking these fields of practice, peace interventions and climate adaptation are rarely jointly integrated in adaptation efforts (Mosello and Rüttinger, 2020). Such disassociation can be observed in the absence of funds and measures currently allocated to peacebuilding efforts in climate adaptation interventions, highlighting the importance of aligning climate adaptation and peace objectives and incentives (Mosello and Rüttinger, 2020; Läderach et al., 2021). The Climate-Peace Framework (CPF) we propose attempts to bridge this gap through the integration of conflict-sensitivity in climate action programs. Conflict-sensitivity is an approach to interventions that seeks to avoid causing harm while also contributing to peace (Tänzler and Scherer, 2019). Applying this safeguard approach to climate action interventions has the potential to help prevent future conflicts or relapses in implementation sites, as well as develop and preserve peace (Läderach et al., 2021). Climate action here should be understood in terms of climate smart technologies, practices and services that aim to strengthen the climate resilience of farmers in the Global South (Loboguerrero and Hellin, 2021).

This framework was conceptualized to lay the theoretical foundations for an actionable tool meant to be used as a safeguard approach for climate action programs: the Climate Security Sensitiveness Scoring Tool (CSST). This tool targets practitioners, decision makers and multilateral institutes interested in diagnostic research for peace responsive climate action in the context of agriculture and rural development. Its goal is to link climate adaptation and peacebuilding through ex ante evaluating whether climate action programs and their implementation modalities are appropriate for the context in which they are carried

out, and to recommend strategies to strengthen their suitability. The CSST intends to appraise the suitability of climate-smart agricultural operations in relation to context-specific drivers of conflict, as well as to optimize their relevance for peacebuilding by tailoring their implementation to pre-existing socio-political and conflictual conditions. It is used at the designing phase of a project, and it provides graphic representations of the extent to which climate adaptation-related mechanisms respond to those drivers.

This paper aims to provide a theoretical and conceptual framework to distil the complex problem around linking climate adaptation, conflict sensitivity and peacebuilding, with the final goal of operationalizing it into a practical tool. While aware that conflict sensitivity and peacebuilding are two distinct concepts, the framework we propose lays the baseline for a tool addressing both ends. Conflict sensitivity minimizes negative and maximizes positive impacts of programming on conflict, while peacebuilding seeks to reduce key drivers of violent conflict and to contribute to broader societal-level peace (van Brabant, 2010). By linking such fields of practice in agricultural development programs, we strive to provide a scheme for climate action practitioners to better identify and address contextual drivers of conflict while advancing peacebuilding processes. To address such goals, this paper will answer the following research questions:

- What evidence is needed to inform investments, programming and policy to avoid doing harm and achieve the double dividend of climate adaptation and peace?
- What indicators and mechanisms are useful to conceptualize a practical and context-specific tool recommending on conflict-sensitive and peace-responsive climate action programming?

This paper firstly provides an overview of how existing theoretical discourses guided the development of the present theoretical and conceptual Climate-Peace Framework (CPF). Secondly, it outlines the CPF itself while justifying linkages between climate adaptation and peacebuilding. It then moves on to lay the theoretical groundwork for how this model can respond to common insecurity factors, with the goal of developing a tool for prioritizing mechanisms to address contextual conflict and insecurity drivers when designing climate interventions. Lastly, it describes the CSST methodology.

# 2. Environmental Peacebuilding Knowledgebase

The programming toolkit we propose is based on a conceptual CPF rooted in the environmental peacebuilding literature and adapted to typify climate-peace mechanisms specifically. Environmental peacebuilding is the best-positioned academic field to frame linkages between climate action and peace due to its adequacy and effectiveness in connecting environmental and natural phenomena to more social, economic and political ones. This section reports on the literature employed to qualify different environmental peacebuilding mechanisms and existing trajectories through which natural resource management (NRM) can reduce the risk for conflict and contribute to peace.

Existing environmental peacebuilding frameworks that serve as the conceptual foundation for our CPF include the ones developed by Dresse et al. (2019) and by Johnson et al. (2021). The rationale behind environmental peacebuilding discourses is that shared environmental challenges and resource-based disputes can be translated into opportunities for cooperation, integration and peace by transforming NRM strategies (Rüttinger et al., 2014). Depending on the latent intercommunal relations, social norms and potential drivers of conflict, some NRM practices may be more relevant for building peace and resilience, while some other practices may lead to more inequalities and grievances. These frameworks introduce

the notion that conflicting parties can address shared environmental challenges through differing peacebuilding mechanisms at different levels of intercommunal cohesion.

Dresse and colleagues define technical, restorative, and sustainable environmental peacebuilding mechanisms, each being suitable for given intercommunal conditions (Dresse et al., 2019). Technical mechanisms are efficient strategies for peacebuilding when conflict parties' tensions are severe; they allow "technical cooperation through coordinated action" and resolve technocratically the environmental causes of conflicts while minimizing trans-boundary contacts and dialogue (Dresse et al., 2019; Carius, 2006a). Ecopeace's Good Water Neighbours project is a technical mechanism example for shared environmental challenges in Middle Eastern communities (Obidallah, 2015). The establishment of a sewage collection system in a Palestinian town connected to the network of an Israeli community has resulted in the prevention of pollution of a shared water stream. This project can be considered as a technical mechanism since it was neutrally coordinated by a third party and fostered intergroup contact and interactions between conflict parties while reducing water scarcity and resource degradation (Harari and Roseman, 2008). Since Palestinian and Israeli intercommunal dynamics are known to be hostile and in need for neutral support that enables little interaction between parties while still fostering shared identities, this technical mechanism can be deemed as appropriate for the context in which it was applied.

Restorative mechanisms are appropriate strategies when conflict parties can exchange on shared values and break down mutual stereotypes: conditions enable direct contact between parties. These mechanisms create "neutral spaces of interaction through dialogue and negotiation" in that they tackle environmental interdependence created by shared biophysical spaces while promoting dialogue (Dresse et al., 2019; Barnett et al., 2007; Harwell, 2016). An example of a restorative mechanism is the Inter Collectivité du Sourou Mali project, which united 29 territorial entities to develop an Integrated Sustainable Development Programme for wetlands shared by Mali and Burkina Faso (ICS, 2019). This project can be considered as a restorative mechanism since it created neutral spaces of interaction and negotiation between resource inter-dependent communities while covering the interests of the region (Molenaar and Nooteboom, 2020). Since those communities experienced intergroup contact in shared biophysical spaces, while power symmetry between them lacked due to Burkinabe natural resource governance structures in the Sourou region outcompeting Malian ones, this restorative mechanism was appropriate for the intercommunal dynamics present in this landscape requiring a bare minimum level of intercommunal contact to enable dialogue.

Sustainable mechanisms are suited strategies when there are no disparities in wealth, power and negotiating capacity between conflict parties; these strategies manage "common-pool resource through collective action" in that they reduce unequal distribution of resources while promoting joint socioecological management systems (Dresse et al., 2019; Vallet, 2020; Carius, 2006b; Zikos et al., 2015). These resource apolitical mechanisms, characterized by actions fostering joint management systems and equitable resource distribution, emerge from both high-level and grassroots figures and they can only be developed upon symmetrical power relations (Zikos et al., 2015; Dresse et al., 2019; Carius, 2006). An example of a sustainable mechanism is the bi-communal water management of a mixed Greek-Turkish village in Cyprus located in the island's buffer zone and designed by the village itself to self-supply potable water. This plan can be considered as a sustainable mechanism since it consisted in the collective and willful participation of antagonistic communities in securing access to a common resource. However, high-level leadership figures did not support the plan due to intercommunal identity issues, and it failed (Zikos

et al., 2015). Since Northern and Southern Cyprus intercommunal dynamics are hostile whilst sharing biophysical environments, the bi-communal water management plan was not appropriate for the intercommunal dynamics present in the landscape. Power symmetry lacked between the two sides and the bicommunal resource management plan became politicized (Zikos et al., 2015). Restorative or technical mechanisms would have perhaps worked better in this intercommunal landscape requiring developments in intergroup contact and trust.

The framework introduced by Johnson and colleagues defines four dimensions of peace framing the peacebuilding process from negative to positive peace outcomes: absence of conflict, shared identity, capabilities and substantial integration (Johnson et al., 2021). Additionally, it introduces specific mechanisms capable to link NRM initiatives to those peace dimensions. These include 1) economic development strategies through which NRM supports livelihoods of conflict-affected populations; 2) building institutional capacity for both NRM and peacebuilding, which can lead to enhanced state legitimacy and representation of marginalized social groups; 3) building trust, cooperation and interdependence among potentially conflicting groups, leading in turn to shared identity and future-state visions; 4) developing and implementing strategies to improve environmental conditions, social resilience and the sustainable access and use of resources; and 5) enhancing knowledge through education, environmental and social awareness, and the integration of plural knowledges.

Economic development in NRM is particularly relevant in conflict-affected and post-conflict contexts as resource revenues are crucial to people's livelihoods (Johnson et al., 2021; Young and Goldman, 2015). Building institutions for NRM is important regardless of the peace dimension targeted as it is a mechanism that secures property rights, enhances the rule of law, regulates and delivers public services (Acemoglu and Robinson, 2012; Bruch et al., 2016). Building trust and cooperation is a mechanism specifically important resolving violent conflicts and for building shared identity: collective NRM can increase interaction rates, reduce tensions and establish mutual legitimacy and rights (UNEP, 2009; Conca, 2002). Resource sustainability can help prevent conflict while contributing to capabilities: reducing environmental degradation and restoring ecosystems is a means of protecting resources on which livelihoods depend and fostering human security (Johnson et al., 2021; Hellin et al., 2018). Finally, enhancing knowledge is a mechanism with the potential to create shared identities, promote social inclusion and equity as well as foster capabilities and awareness reducing the likelihood of conflict (Johnson et al., 2021).



*Figure 1: Environmental peacebuilding mechanisms for different peacebuilding trajectories. Adapted from Dresse, A., Fischhendler, I., Nielsen, J. Ø., & Zikos, D. (2019) and Johnson, M. F., Rodríguez, L. A., & Hoyos, M. Q. (2021)* 

Figure 1 illustrates how we conceptualize and categorize environmental peacebuilding mechanisms through these theoretical frameworks, and how we frame trajectories for desired peace-contributing potential based on contextual needs and cohesion levels. The characteristics of these peacebuilding mechanisms are the building blocks of the indicators' selection for our climate security sensitiveness scoring tool, while the negative to positive peace continuum they form can inform on ideal climate action practices to optimize the peace-contributing potential in contexts of implementation.

# 3. Climate-Peace Framework (CPF)

The framework we conceptualize is structured upon the literature described in the previous section and is adapted specifically to frame climate action for peacebuilding. This framework was complemented with theories indicating how climate action can contribute to peace and sustainable livelihoods. Those theories include resilience, NRM, inequality, conflict resolution and collective action discourses (Folke et al., 2010; Folke, 2016; Jeans et al., 2019; Carius, 2006b; Krampe et al., 2021b; Ratner et al., 2017). The same way that environmental peacebuilding is defined as "the process through which environmental challenges shared by conflicting parties are turned into opportunities to build lasting cooperation and peace" (Dresse et al., 2019), we define climate-peace mechanisms as the potential of climate action to unify conflicting communities against shared climate-related insecurities. This framework lays the theoretical groundwork for linking climate intervention characteristics to peace-contributing outcomes in order to pursue climate-resilient peace. Climate-resilient peace is defined as is the process of addressing imbalances in access and distribution of power and resources in response to the structures that drive climate change and influence experience of its impacts (Nicoson, 2021).



Figure 2: Diagram illustrating the climate-peace framework adapted from environmental peacebuilding

This framework (figure 2) is composed of initial conditions characterizing intergroup cohesion levels, peace dimensions referring to desirable peacebuilding outcomes for each initial condition, and climate-peace pathways leading to these outcomes through different mechanisms and contributing to different degrees of peace potential. In our adapted framework, we dropped the technical, restorative, and sustainable terms introduced by Dresse and renamed those pathways respectively 'technocratic climate action', 'climate action for conflict resolution' and 'climate action for conflict transformation', while maintaining their peacebuilding connotations, related initial condition stages and outcomes.

### Initial Conditions

The CPF further details Dresse's initial conditions with contact theory (Everett and Onu, 2013; Christ and Kauff, 2019) and the concept of *resource apolitization* (Zikos et al., 2015), to finally label them according to defined levels of intergroup contact. Intergroup contact, as defined by Christ and Kauff, is "direct, extended, vicarious or imagined contact between members of different groups" and is "an effective

means to reduce mutual prejudice and increase trust and forgiveness" (2019). In other words, it is the capacity of a group to perceive the 'other' group as a legitimate and valuable interlocutor (Everett and Onu, 2013). Tobias Ide defines the lack of intergroup contact as *negative othering*, which can typically generate motive and justification for the use of violence (Ide, 2015). Moreover, *political resources* are those resources that are considered 'securitized' and for which exceptional measures, including war, to mitigate an existential threat to access are legitimized (Zikos et al., 2015). Three cohesion levels characterizing the relationship between conflict parties are thus introduced by our framework: 'deeply divided societies', 'tolerated societies' and 'power symmetrical societies'. For each of these intercommunal contact conditions, distinct climate action programming mechanisms can be considered suitable, since according to the rationale of this framework, conflicting parties should address shared climate challenges in different ways – or through different pathways – at different degrees of intergroup cohesion and resource politization level.

Deeply divided societies are characterized by a complete lack of intergroup contact, meaning that a group or a conflicting party does not recognize the other one as a legitimate interlocutor. Such societies share climate impacts but lack the cohesion capacity and willingness to jointly face such issues: the cost of cooperation is too high for conflicting parties and shared resources are highly politicized. Technocratically coordinated climate action programs that minimize trans-boundary contacts and dialogue are suited when transboundary tensions are severe: they can induce intergroup contact and lead to an absence of violence, the very least form of peace (Dresse et al., 2019; Carius, 2006a; Johnson et al., 2021). In deeply divided societies, such climate-peace pathways can reduce climate eled resource degradation and scarcity and strengthen livelihoods' capacity to cope with climate stressors while initializing intercommunal contact. These practices are here labeled as technocratic climate action mechanisms since they are coordinated neutrally by a third party that actively engages each conflicting party separately, and are achieved through economic development, building institutions, building trust and cooperation and resource sustainability (Johnson et al., 2021).

Tolerated societies share biophysical environments enabling direct contact between them, although shared resources may be politicized. Programs that create neutral spaces of interaction through dialogue and negotiation are suited when conflicting parties can recognize each other as legitimate interlocutors: they can foster trust, stability, and shared identities (Dresse et al., 2019; Barnett et al., 2007; Harwell, 2016, Johnson et al., 2021). In tolerated societies, these climate-peace pathways are strategies that reduce resource uncertainty and strengthen livelihood adaptive capacity, while reducing intercommunal power asymmetries and increasing trust. These practices are here labeled as climate action for conflict resolution since they strive to resolve conflicts by creating opportunities for intercommunal dialogues, and are achieved through enhancing knowledge, building trust and cooperation, and building institutions (Johnson et al., 2021).

Finally, we define the least hostile dynamics as power symmetrical societies, characterized by a lack of intercommunal disparities in wealth, power and negotiating capacity between parties and by apolitical shared resources. Apolitical resources are those that do not constitute a reason for threats. Programs that enable the management of common-pool resource through collective action are suited when there are no intercommunal disparities in negotiating capacity: they can improve equity and substantial integration in power symmetrical societies, leading to positive peace conditions (Dresse et al., 2019; Vallet, 2020; Carius, 2006b; Zikos et al., 2015; Johnson et al., 2021). Positive peace is defined as the absence of exploitation of human and non-human resources, gender equality, and human rights respect (Devere,

2018). When no intercommunal disparities persist, intracommunal and gender-based inequalities and insecurities can be more effectively addressed. In power symmetrical societies, these climate-peace mechanisms are strategies that reduce structural intersectional inequalities and strengthen livelihood transformative capacity while fostering collective action. These practices are here labeled as climate action for conflict transformation since they strive to reduce unequal resource distribution and opportunities while shifting reasons for conflict into reasons for cooperation. Climate action through these mechanisms improves peace and resilience by shifting the relationship between parties from political borders to resilient socio-ecological systems and are achieved through enhancing knowledge, building institutions and resource sustainability (Dresse et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2021).

#### Climate-Peace Pathways

The CPF features three distinct pathways linking initial conditions and desirable peace dimensions: technocratic climate action, climate action for conflict resolution, and climate action for conflict transformation (figure 2). They arise from a combination of trajectories introduced by current environmental peacebuilding discourses (Dresse et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2021), which were translated to represent climate action programming efforts rather than environmental management practices. Additionally, the capabilities dimension of peace introduced by Johnson and colleagues was left out of the frame, as we deemed more appropriate the inclusion of capacity building features into the peacebuilding pathway. This was done by integrating capacity and resilience building features into the remaining climate-peace pathways, as enhancing community resilience to climate-related threats is a crucial factor of any climate action (von Lossow et al., 2021).

In resilience discourses, absorptive, adaptive and transformative capacities are central to socioecological resilience (Folke et al. 2010). Absorptive capacity is meant as "the capacity to take intentional protective action and to cope with known shocks and stress" and is relevant in precarious and volatile circumstances (Jeans et al., 2019 p3; Folke, 2016). Adaptive capacity is meant as "the capacity to make intentional incremental adjustments in anticipation of or in response to change, in ways that create more flexibility in the future" and is relevant to changing and unpredictable circumstances (Jeans et al., 2019 p4; Folke, 2016). Transformative capacity is meant as "the capacity to make intentional change to stop or reduce the causes of risk, vulnerability, poverty, and inequality, and ensure the more equitable sharing of risk so it is not unfairly borne by people living in poverty or suffering from discrimination or marginalization" and is relevant to address the root causes of inequality and vulnerability (Jeans et al., 2019 p5; Folke, 2016). These resilience components were fitted into the CPF since they represent tangible and actionable factors for social and ecological peacebuilding as well as for capacity building through climate action, based on different resilience-related needs (coping, adaptive or transformative).

The peace-contributing potential of climate-peace pathways is determined by a set of mechanisms encompassing the ways through which environmental management could be linked to peacebuilding outcomes (Johnson et al., 2021; Ide, 2019). Figure 2 lists this set of climate-peace mechanisms and helps conceptualizing how these mechanisms relate to the pathways: they represent tangible ways through which these pathways can lead to different dimensions of peace. Most of the mechanisms that appear on the figure are theoretical environmental peacebuilding mechanisms retrieved from the framework introduced by Johnson and colleagues; whilst 'building capacity and resilience' was hereby added. The approach presented here proposes to define, for each climate-peace pathway, the critical mechanisms to

increase the context-specific peace-contributing potential, as reported in the environmental peacebuilding literature.

To achieve the absence of violence and induce intergroup contact in deeply divided societies, technocratic and coordinated action that identifies the needs of both high and grass-root levels is the most suitable strategy (Dresse et al., 2019). Such action must strive to build economic development, build institutions, build trust and cooperation, build capacity and resilience and to contribute to resource sustainability (Acemoglu & Robinson, 2012; Jensen & Lonergan, 2012; Johnson et al., 2021; Milburn, 2012; Naoufal, 2014). In terms of climate action in the field of rural development, such characteristics translate into programming efforts that address urgent climate impacts on production and livelihood systems while minimizing transboundary dialogue: technocratic climate action.

To achieve stability and power symmetry while creating shared identities in tolerated societies, actions striving to create neutral spaces for dialogue are suitable strategies as they allow for negotiation and to reduce uncertainty (Dresse et al., 2019). Such actions must strive to enhance knowledge, enhance resource sustainability, build institutions, build trust and cooperation and to build capacity and resilience (Burt & Keiru, 2011; Carius, 2006a; Ide, 2019; Johnson et al., 2021; Huda, 2021). In terms of climate action in the field of rural development, such characteristics translate into programming efforts supporting adaptation to known climate impacts on production and livelihood systems while fostering conflict parties' interaction through negotiation: climate action for conflict resolution.

To achieve substantial integration, equity and sustainability, initiatives emerging from both high-level and grassroots figures that foster collective action and common-pool resource management are the most suitable strategies (Dresse et al., 2019). These initiatives must build economic development, institutions, capacity and resilience, enhance knowledge and foster resource sustainability (Krampe, 2016; Johnson et al., 2021). In terms of climate action in the field of rural development, such characteristics translate into programming efforts supporting communities in facing climate changes synergistically and as integrated social-ecological systems: climate action for conflict transformation.

### Climate-Peace Mechanisms and sub-Mechanisms

To pursue climate-resilient peace, the CPF introduces six climate-peace mechanisms: economic development, building institutions, building trust and cooperation, resource sustainability, enhancing knowledge and building capacity and resilience. These climate-peace mechanisms are the ways through which climate adaptation can unify conflicting communities against shared insecurities and work towards climate resilient peace. The climate-peace mechanisms translate how different characteristics of climate action interventions can mitigate conflict drivers, such as by strengthening livelihoods, improving resource governance, and addressing inequality and environmental degradation. They can be conceptualized as the means through which conflict drivers can be addressed in order to attain climate resilient peace.

In the adapted framework, mechanisms represent climate actions' contributions to peace and stability in terms of several crucial factors for security that arise from the literature: livelihood climate resilience, natural resource access, intercommunal group cohesion, institutions, trust and cooperation, economic development, resource sustainability and enhancing knowledge. Building on these factors, climate-peace mechanisms were further elaborated to characterize more specifically the ways through which they could be achieved for each climate-peace pathway through the identification of sub-mechanism (table 1). Thereafter, these sub-mechanisms were qualified with more tangible indicators characteristic of

agricultural climate action programs and practices across value chains with the potential to address and counteract intercommunal conflict drivers and avoid maladaptation (table 2).

	Technocratic Climate Action	Climate Action for Conflict Resolution	Climate Action for Conflict Transformation
Economic Development	Create livelihoods and sustain existing ones	Develop bi-communal spaces and infrastructures	Foster the provision of public goods and services
Building Institutions	Enhance institutional capacities for good environmental governance	Facilitate legal pluralism and resource rights	Foster equitable distribution of resources and benefits
Building Trust and Cooperation	Involve both high and grass-root levels while minimizing transboundary contacts	Foster intercommunal trust and shared identity	Enhance social cohesion and empower vulnerable groups
Resource Sustainability	Restore degraded ecosystems	Foster adoption of practices for sustainable use of resources	Conserve ecosystems and common-pool resources
Enhancing Knowledge	Raise awareness on environmental issues and environment-conflict linkages	Establish the recognition of diverse ontologies in climate adaptation and NRM	Foster recognition of alternative knowledges and worldviews
Building capacity and resilience	Increase livelihood climate coping capacity	Increase livelihood climate adaptation capacity	Increase livelihood climate transformative capacity

Table 1: Sub-mechanisms identified for each climate-peace pathway

### Economic development

The same way that NRM plays a significant peacebuilding role in contributing to economic development, climate adaptation presents economic opportunities by enabling increased yields and returns, providing people with diversified livelihoods and sources of income, preventing risks, and increasing available resources through preventing losses (Ramirez-Villegas et al., 2021, Williams et al., 2020). To achieve the absence of violence, climate action's contribution to economic growth revolves around addressing basic human needs, and thus creating livelihoods and sustaining existing ones (Jensen & Lonergan, 2012; Bruch et al., 2016). Examples of ways through which climate action contributes to creating and sustaining livelihoods include securing food production, providing necessary inputs, diversifying income, spreading operations, identifying opportunities for added value and restoring degraded infrastructures. To establish shared identities while contributing to economic growth, climate action has the potential to create neutral spaces for dialogue by establishing bi-communal infrastructures. For instance, developing shared collecting, storing, processing and transporting facilities and facilitating access to intercommunal resources can increase livelihoods' economic capacities while creating opportunities for groups to perceive mutual interests and identities. To achieve substantial integration, it is crucial to extend climate action's economic benefits across all groups, especially more vulnerable ones. The sub-mechanism through which climate action contributes to peace via economic development is thus fostering the provision of public goods and services (Krampe, 2016). Examples of practices include monitoring funds allocation, increasing availability of extension services, increasing government revenues from NRM and fostering foreign investment. By contributing to economic growth, these sub-mechanisms characterize climate action program's features that may develop economic capacities and contribute to peacebuilding.

#### **Building institutions**

An essential component of environmental peacebuilding activities is the development of institutional capacity to improve natural resource governance (Ide, 2019). To achieve the absence of violence, climate action's contribution to improved institutional capacities requires programs to strengthen the rule of law; enhancing institutional capacities for good environmental governance is thus a critical factor (Acemoglu & Robinson, 2012). Activities for this sub-mechanism include addressing the illicit use of natural resources, addressing the conflict economy such as by reducing corruption and promoting transparency, as well as building NRM governance, institutions, and capacities, such as by involving local authorities in the

administration of the program. Setting seed for legal pluralism and resource rights through climate action programs can resolve conflicts and lead to shared values, particularly since the direct dialogue and negotiation can create a sense of interdependence between actors (Dresse et al., 2019). This can be done by securing property rights, addressing legal ambiguities on natural resource tenure and rights, certifying resource rights and setting conditions for communication and negotiation around resources. To reach substantial integration, fostering equitable distribution of resources and benefits is a key institutional peacebuilding mechanism (Johnson et al., 2021). As a matter of fact, creating policies, standards, and procedures that encourage group action and cooperative resource management can improve the agency of socially marginalized groups and result in fairer distribution of resource benefits (Ostrom, 1990). Climate action programs can incorporate such goals by regulating the use of and rights to resources more effectively and equitably and ensuring that program benefits are evenly distributed across groups. This can be done by making tenure governance policies more inclusive, strengthening links between formal and informal NRM systems and involving all actors and beneficiaries through the development of the program to increase transparency. By contributing to building institutions, these sub-mechanisms characterize climate action program's features that may develop governance and contribute to peacebuilding.

#### Building trust and cooperation

Climate-smart agricultural practices, technologies and services can serve as opportunities to build cooperation. In the same logic that NRM strategies present opportunities to build cooperation, integration and peace, climate adaptation strategies can create circumstances for building trust and cooperation, which ultimately positively affect peace. Indeed, one of the most frequently reported mechanisms for peacebuilding is supporting the development of trust and cooperative capacities (Johnson et al., 2021). Building trust and cooperation in violent contexts characterized by deeply divided societies can be achieved through minimizing transboundary contacts while providing communities with climate adaptation support responding to specific needs of both high and grass-root levels. In this sense, climate adaptation initiatives that meaningfully involve relevant community stakeholders, particularly climate vulnerable and conflict-affected households, in the program's planning and administration processes, while still minimizing dialogue between conflict parties, have a chance at mitigating conflict potentials and creating a sense of interdependence. Participatory Rural Appraisal Strategies would be a relevant example for this as they strive to incorporate the knowledge, opinions and needs of rural populations in the planning and management of development programs (FAO, 2006). In tolerated societies it is important to foster shared identities and intergroup contact to build trust, which can be done by enabling groups to perceive climate change as a common challenge that must be addressed collaboratively. Proxies for this sub-mechanism include the establishment of neutral spaces for interaction and dialogue and addressing intercommunal power imbalances. This can be translated into activities gathering program beneficiaries to analyze, collaborate, and find creative solutions for climate challenges, as well as involving moderators in project plans. Another important aspect is to consider for building trust is the reduction of power asymmetries, meaning that programs should strive to support communities through equity-based approaches, and foster the recognition of mutually legitimate rights (Carius, 2006). Additionally, achieving substantial integration through building trust and cooperation requires the enhancement of social cohesion and the empowerment of vulnerable groups. As a matter of fact, increasing social capital and strengthening networks creates opportunities for improving levels of agency and capabilities (Hellin et al., 2018). Examples for this sub-mechanism include enabling communities to produce collective benefits, such as through cooperatives, creating opportunities for shared outputs, increasing social capital in cooperative arrangements and networks, involving vulnerable groups in decision making processes, such as women, youth, marginalized, and disabled, and addressing gender-based discrimination. Acquiring a gender-sensitive approach in climate adaptation practices is crucial to enable veritable integration with a view to build trust and cooperation. This can be achieved by including protocols to address gender-based violence, providing guidelines for reporting and confidentiality, as well as following criteria for evaluating whether a gender-responsive approach is used in CSA practices (Nelson & Huyer, 2016; Twyman et al., 2017).

#### Resource sustainability

Climate smart agriculture has the potential to contribute to resource sustainability, since its implementation often supports the maintenance and conservation of healthy and productive landscapes. For instance, agroforestry, including farmer-managed natural regenerations, and soil and water conservation technologies, such as zai, half-moon, tie, contour ridges and conservation agriculture, are renowned CSA practices applied to regenerate ecosystems (Partey et al., 2018). In addition, nature conservation and the protection of forest areas also make part of climate action programming packages, therefore leading to more sustainable ecosystems and landscapes. Since sustainable environments are essential cornerstones for peace, particularly for social groups whose livelihoods are directly dependent on their ability to access resources, CSA practices represent opportunities for peacebuilding by improving resource availability and environmental conditions (UNEP, 2003; UNEP, 2009; Johnson et al., 2021; Bruch et al., 2016). In post-conflictual or violent contexts, it is critical to avoid future conflict relapses over scarce natural resources and it is therefore crucial to employ restoration frameworks for degraded landscapes and ecosystems to increase availability and quality of water and land resources. Adopting CSA practices that foster NRM and regeneration, while also limiting unsustainable exploitation can assist communities in maintaining stable livelihoods and fostering human security (Milburn, 2012; Hellin et al., 2018). Natural resource conservation and protection strategies can also support the development of shared identities as well as substantial integration. For instance, to achieve shared identities, climate action programming packages can include agricultural practices for sustainable use of resources, which can support durable resource availability for communities and therefore secure livelihoods' stability, while also incorporating practices for landscape restoration. Indeed, formerly conflicting actors within landscapes can gain a sense of belonging and a rooted identity through the sustainable use or restoration of those landscapes (Burt & Keiru, 2011; Johnson et al., 2021). Example for this sub-mechanism include increasing natural capitals through recycling resources and regenerative agricultural practices, promoting diversity in production systems through increasing diversity at the landscape scale and spatially diversifying production systems with polycropping, as well as creating bicommunal spaces for landscape restoration. Additionally, climate action programs can contribute to achieving substantial integration in power-symmetrical societies by facilitating community-based conservation of ecosystems and common-pool resources. For this to happen, it will be critical to at least facilitate the protection of ecosystems and biodiversity, such as by identifying local resources at risk, assessing ecosystem services of valuable resources and planning conservation efforts for these species at risk. However, what will be particularly effective for peacebuilding is to meaningfully involve communities in the definition and development of protected areas, and NRM projects more broadly, to address the needs of all resource users and prevent the exclusion of marginalized groups.

#### Enhancing knowledge

Education, environmental awareness, and the recognition of various knowledges are all critical factors in peacebuilding since they can foster social inclusion, equity and enhance capabilities (Lederach, 2017; McAllister & Wright, 2019; Johnson et al., 2021). Climate action can positively impact peacebuilding by providing opportunities to promote alternative worldviews and by integrating a diversity of traditional and cultural ontologies in program designs. In deeply divided societies, climate action programs can contribute to peace through educational and awareness-raising activities around nature conservation (Naoufal, 2014). Providing communities with technical knowledge about NRM and how to restore degraded or dwindling natural resources can help them preserve them on their own and meet their needs (Jensen & Lonergan, 2012). This is especially important for more vulnerable and marginalized groups, such as minorities, displaced and indigenous peoples, whose livelihoods rely on these resources and who may have fewer capacities and instruments to access them independently. Also, since climate change is difficult for people to fathom because it is abstract, often invisible, and slow onset, it is of great relevance to raise awareness over its implications over natural resource availability (Naoufal, 2014). The same way that strengthening resource sustainability through restoration efforts can reduce the potential for conflicts over resources, learning and obtaining the tools to preserve scarce natural capital and comprehend the risks posed by climate change represents an opportunity for peacebuilding. In addition, post-conflictual communities will benefit from awareness raising initiatives around environment and conflict linkages which have proven to empower positive change (Naoufal, 2014; Johnson et al., 2021). Moreover, facilitating environmental education while fostering different ontologies around environmental resources has been shown to create shared identities and acceptance of 'the other' as a legitimate user of shared landscapes (Huda, 2021). In this sense, recognizing alternative knowledges and worldviews has the potential to de-politicize and de-securitize common-pool resources, therefore increasing intergroup contact (Everett & Onu, 2013; Christ and Kauff, 2019; Zikos et al., 2015). For instance, grassroots educational activities proved to have the potential to mitigate the effects of ethnonationalistic populism and contribute to the creation of a societal climate supportive of sustainable reconciliation in the long term (Huda, 2021; Ide & Tubi, 2020). Establishing the recognition of diverse ontologies in climate adaptation and NRM seems therefore of extreme relevance for peacebuilding. By fostering intergroup contact and social inclusion, this process can contribute to both shared identities and substantial integration. Examples for this sub-mechanism include co-designing climate adaptation programs with local communities to integrate all existing practices on the ground, including the knowledge of women and men who manage the habitat to meaningfully integrate existing local climate adaptation and NRM strategies (Elias, 2018), valuing traditional and indigenous knowledge and providing knowledge sharing opportunities amongst groups.

#### Building capacity and resilience

Capabilities are a key element for peacebuilding and human security since they represent options and instruments to face, mitigate and adapt to threats posed to human, environmental and social rights (Johnson et al., 2021; Barnett & Adger, 2007; Nussbaum, 2011; Peters et al., 2020). Climate smart agricultural practices, by providing tools, services and strategies for climate adaptation, contribute to increasing capabilities through building communities' capacity and resilience to withstand climate shocks and slow onset climate impacts. For this climate-peace mechanisms, the three capabilities building blocks of socioecological resilience led the definition of appropriate sub-mechanisms for the different initial conditions outlined above: perseverance, adaptability and transformability (Folke et al., 2010; Folke, 2016; Jeans et al., 2019). In contexts affected by tensions, it is of great relevance to provide communities

with the capacities to cope with climate shocks and persevere their livelihoods while undergoing stress, in order to prevent conflict relapses over resources. For this, it is essential for climate action programs to identify current local assets and needs, provide social protection schemes to strengthen post-conflict human capital, decrease sensitivity of risk exposed areas and strengthen production systems coping capacity to shocks, such as by spreading farm operations, diversifying produce, adjusting cropping and harvesting times, developing storage capacities and facilitating the adoption of insurance-based schemes. To strive for shared identities, it is essential for climate action programs to support communities with adapting their livelihoods to climate, in terms of both productive and social systems. Increasing the adaptation capacity of production systems will require facilitating the adoption of adapted crops, cultivars and animal type, improving crop residue management, integrating mixed production systems, and increasing access to collection, refrigeration, processing and transportation infrastructures. On the other hand, increasing the adaptation capacity of social systems will require strengthening social capital, such as networks and connections, and financial capital to expand capacities to grow production systems and increase land-tenure security. Finally, to strive for substantial integration, climate action programs need to provide communities with the transformational capacities to address the root causes of poverty and inequality. This requires strengthening the agency of vulnerable groups, engaging women and youth in long-term change processes that shift power, beliefs and values (Jeans et al., 2019). Also, to increase capabilities, it will be important to ensure food sovereignty such as by developing and informing policies and approaches that allow communities to decide the way food is produced, traded, and consumed.

Mechanisms	Sub-mechanisms	Indicators and examples
Economic	Create livelihoods and sustain existing ones	Secure food production: provision of necessary inputs, irrigation sources, climate information Diversify income and livelihood: spread farm operations, mixed-systems approach, analyze market value chains to address bottlenecks and identify opportunities for added value Restore degraded infrastructures: sustain/introduce irrigation systems, mechanization technologies
development	Develop bi-communal spaces and infrastructures	Introduce intercommunal infrastructures: develop shared collecting/ storing/ processing/ transporting facilities for produce Facilitate access to intercommunal resources: extend fallow areas/pastures
	Foster the provision of public goods and services	Bolster equitable and efficient delivery of public services: monitor funds allocation, increase availability of extension services Increase government revenues from natural resource management: increase available resources for the provision of public goods and services, foster foreign investment
	Enhance institutional capacities for good environmental governance	Address the illicit use of natural resources: monitor protected areas/resources Address the conflict economy: reduce corruption, promote transparency Build natural resource management governance, institutions, and capacities: fortify subnational institutions, involve authorities in administration of program
Building institutions	Facilitate legal pluralism and resource rights	Secure property rights: map properties, address legal ambiguities on natural resource tenure and rights, certify resource rights Deploy effective conflict management and resolution processes: facilitate communication and negotiation around resources
	Foster equitable distribution of resources and benefits	Regulate the use of and rights to resources more effectively and equitably: make tenure governance policies more inclusive, transparent, and fair, strengthen the links between formal and informal natural resource management systems, reform natural resource management policies Ensure program benefits are evenly distributed across groups: all relevant actors concerned are made aware of the project and its benefits
	Involve both high and grass-root levels while minimizing transboundary	Involve all community stakeholders in planning process: meaningfully involve relevant community stakeholders (climate vulnerable and conflict-affected households) in the program's planning and administration processes, engage informal sector in program

Table 2: Overview of climate-peace mechanisms,	sub-mechanisms and examples of related climate action
program activities	

	contacts in violent contexts	development Decrease opportunity cost for conflict: address needs of both high and grass-root level figures in all groups targeted by the program, identify root causes of intercommunal conflict through participatory rural appraisal strategies Participatory approach through minimized transboundary dialogue: ensure participatory approaches do not gather program beneficiaries involved in active (violent) conflict together
Building trust and cooperation	Foster intercommunal trust and create shared identities	Address intercommunal power imbalances: address disparities in wealth and negotiating capacity, support beneficiary communities through equity-based approaches rather than egalitarian ones Create neutral spaces for dialogue: gather program beneficiaries to analyze, collaborate, and find creative solutions for climate challenges, involve moderators in project plans Foster the recognition of mutually legitimate rights
	Enhance social cohesion and empower vulnerable groups	Foster cooperative behavior: enable communities to produce collective benefits, strengthen cooperatives, create opportunities for shared outputs, increase social capital in cooperative arrangements and networks Involve on vulnerable groups in decision making processes: include women, youth, marginalized, and disabled in program design and administration Address gender-based discrimination: include protocols to address gender-based violence, provide guidelines for reporting and confidentiality
	Restore degraded ecosystems	Avoid future conflicts over scarce natural resources: employ restoration frameworks for degraded landscapes and ecosystems, increase access to, availability and quality of water and land resources Limit unsustainable exploitation: develop and expand protected areas, track and report deforestation and landscape degradation practices
Resource Sustainability	Foster adoption of practices for sustainable use of resources	Increase natural capital: recycle resources, regenerative agricultural practices Promote diversity in production systems: increase land-use diversity or diversity at the landscape scale, Sustainable shifting cultivation, management of heterogeneous landscape, promote spatially diversified production systems through polycropping, promote rotational and regenerative grazing to improve soil quality and forage yield Create bicommunal spaces for landscape restoration: meaningfully involve communities in the planning of bi-communal NRM projects (dams, forest conservation)
	Community-based conservation of ecosystems and common- pool resources	<ul> <li>Protect ecosystems and biodiversity: identify local resources at risk (endangered/vulnerable species), identify ecosystem services of valuable resources (cultural, provisioning, regulating, supporting services), plan conservation efforts for such resources</li> <li>Establish conservation committees: meaningfully involve the community in the definition and development of protected areas, and NRM projects more broadly, to address the needs of all resource users and prevent the exclusion of marginalized groups</li> </ul>
	Raise public awareness and increase learning opportunities	Provide technical knowledge on natural resource management: tools, workshops and learning opportunities to help communities preserve dwindling or scarce resources Provide learning opportunities and tools to comprehend the risks posed by climate change, especially regarding slow onset processes Increase public awareness to address violent conflict: environmental educational activities to develop sustainable and diversified livelihoods on environmental issues and environment-conflict linkages
Enhancing knowledge	Establish the recognition of diverse ontologies in climate adaptation through grassroots approaches	Co-design programs to integrate local knowledges: meaningfully involve local groups' representatives in the planning of the projects to integrate all existing local climate adaptation and natural resource management strategies in the program, ensure diverse knowledge holders, including both men and women, have equal voice and that their strategic interests are addressed Value traditional and indigenous knowledge: seek to include traditional practices and customs in program development and recognize the legitimacy and value of indigenous and local knowledge Provide knowledge sharing opportunities: plan workshops and other community- engaging activities for different groups to share their traditional practices and beliefs in place to manage natural resources and adapt to climate changes
Building capacity and resilience	Increase livelihood climate coping capacity	Identify local assets and needs: understand impact of conflict and climate on livelihoods and production systems, provide social protection schemes to strengthen post-conflict human capital (health, nutrition, education, employment) Decrease sensitivity of risk exposed areas: include sensitivity analyses, identify maladaptive livelihood strategies based on sensitivity, provide early warning systems Strengthen production systems coping capacity to shocks: spread farm operations and diversify produce, adjust cropping/harvesting times, develop storage capacities, facilitate adoption of insurance-based schemes

Increase livelihood climate adaptation capacity	Increase adaptation capacity of social systems: strengthen social capital (networks and connections) and financial capital to expand capacities to grow production systems (e.g.: financial services, credits), increase land-tenure security, address instrumental needs of communities Increase adaptation capacity of production systems: facilitate the adoption of adapted crops/ cultivars & animal types/ breeds, improve crop residue management, integrated nutrient management, provision of post-harvest storage and water harvesting structures, mixed production systems, increase access to collection, refrigeration, processing and transportation infrastructures
Increase livelihood climate transformative capacity	Address root causes of poverty and inequality: strengthen sense of agency of vulnerable and marginalized groups, engage women and youth in long-term change processes that shift power, beliefs, values and ways of thinking and behaving to support greater levels of justice and equality Equity, dignity, inclusion: support fair, dignified and inclusive livelihoods for all actors engaged in food systems, especially small-scale food producers Promote food sovereignty: developing and informing policies and approaches that allow communities to decide the way food is produced, traded and consumed

# 4. Drivers of conflict and insecurity

To create a conflict-sensitive and peace-responsive programming tool, it is relevant to remind ourselves of the difference between conflict-sensitivity and peacebuilding. According to van Brabant, conflict sensitivity minimizes negative and maximizes positive impacts of programming on conflict, while peacebuilding seeks to reduce key drivers of violent conflict and to contribute to broader societal-level peace (2010). The previous section detailed through a theoretical framework how climate-peace mechanisms can be tailored to address different intergroup contact 'initial conditions'. Various aspects of climate adaptation programming were systematized to minimize conflict relapses in deeply divided societies, therefore sustaining negative peace, while other ones were systematized to maximize shared identities, social cohesion, and substantial integration, therefore striving for positive peace. In this sense, the CPF is built on conflict-sensitivity foundations. For a programming tool to also adopt peaceresponsiveness, it must be useful in addressing contextual drivers of conflict and insecurity. This section outlines pertinent drivers of conflict and insecurity, while also linking them to the climate-peace mechanisms introduced in the CPF. This section firstly outlines the set of indicators that were selected to characterize drivers of conflict and insecurity, and it then proceeds on linking them to climate-peace mechanisms in order to define the fragility risk factors that these mechanisms can directly address.

### Contextualizing insecurity and conflict drivers through crisis risk models

The purpose of the CPF is to provide a conceptually and theoretically useful scheme linking climate adaptation and peacebuilding, with the end goal of formulating a practical tool capable of prioritizing peace-responsive mechanisms to address contextual drivers of insecurity when designing climate interventions. To characterize local conditions of insecurity and the propensity of a context to be affected by conflict drivers, the concept of risk appears as appropriate as it holistically evaluates the potential for adverse effects on humans and socio-ecological systems (Simpson et al., 2021; Borodzicz, 2005). Specifically, the concept of humanitarian crisis risk is relevant in assessing security-related implications on communities as it can inform on the specific factors leading to more fragile conditions by assessing people's vulnerability and exposure to a wide array of shocks, while also considering their system's capacity to cope with these shocks (Borodzicz, 2005; Maskrey et al., 2022). Understanding the likelihood of various social, economic, political, and environmental disaster risk factors in affecting the viability of communities and causing humanitarian crises via complex feedback loops also helps appraising context-specific threats to human security (Maskrey et al., 2022; Simpson et al., 2021; Stein & Walch, 2017).

Humanitarian crisis risk models are particularly relevant in the field of climate security as they assess threats to humans' wellbeing from a systemic approach while taking into account the complexity of the interlinkages between natural and socio-political vulnerability factors, leading to fragility and in some cases to conflict (Borodzicz, 2005; Simpson et al., 2021; Stein & Walch, 2017).

The crisis risk model introduced by the Joint Research Center of the European Commission, INFORM Risk, offers a solid foundation for contextualizing conflict and insecurity drivers in various geographies, as well as the severity of their implications. It introduces six categories of risk for humanitarian crises, namely natural hazards, human hazards, socio-economic vulnerabilities, vulnerable groups, lack of institutional coping capacity and lack of infrastructural coping capacity (Marin-Ferrer et al., 2017). These risk categories can effectively be used to estimate the propensity for insecurity and conflict since the indicators comprising them inform on different dimensions of societal fragility. For instance, exposure to droughts, floods and other natural hazards indicators, can indicate the predisposition to natural resource scarcity, reduced agricultural outputs and food insecurity, which are commonly recognized drivers of conflict as they can lead to competition and disputes over resources (Liebig et al., 2022; Bora et al., 2011). Also, these indicators inform on more sudden onset natural disasters too, such as floods and cyclones, phenomena that have been linked to increased migration and displacement flows often leading to instability and conflict (Kriege, Panke & Pregernig, 2020; Thalheimer & Webersik, 2020, Peters et al., 2020). INFORM's socioeconomic vulnerabilities category provides information on the extent to which poverty and inequalities are pressuring in a given locality, therefore capturing grievance-related drivers of conflict (Kett & Rowson, 2007). The vulnerable groups risk category appraises levels of domestic food price levels and volatility, food insecurity, the prevalence of undernourishment, rates of child mortality and diseasesrelated mortality, and the number of refugees and displaced people, being factors indicating levels of exclusion and marginalization, as well as insurrection, which all can lead to insecurity (Stein & Walch, 2017; Walch, 2018; Bora et al., 2011; Thalheimer & Webersik, 2020). Additionally, the model's risk category on the lack of institutional coping capacity is composed of indicators defining governments' effectiveness and corruption as well as their capacity to cope with disasters and shocks. Poor institutional capacity to cope with shocks is widely recognized as a conflict and insecurity driver, as institutional and political landscapes determine whether economic, agricultural and climate-driven shocks lead to conflict (Liebig et al., 2022; Koubi, 2018; Forsyth & Schomerus, 2013). INFORM's risk category on the lack of infrastructural coping capacity provides an overview of communities' capacity to access public services, therefore indicating the infrastructural and economic viability of the localities they pertain (Marin-Ferrer et al., 2017). Low economic and infrastructural capacity to cope with shocks, and more broadly economic hardship, provide indications on poverty levels which are often ingrained with other factors interconnected with conflict (Liebig et al., 2022). Lastly, the human hazards risk category informs on the projected risk of conflict as well as its intensity, therefore evaluating the actual risk of conflict and the potential tensions there may be in given locations.

The set of INFORM risk categories developed by JRC can be deemed as appropriate and comprehensive to capture drivers of insecurity and potential conflicts, as they holistically address the variety of factors that may lead to crises. In addition, these indicators are of extreme relevance for contextualizing the specific risks posed to different geographies as they provide global data at regional level (admin 1), and in some cases even at the municipality level (admin 2). In addition, they are particularly useful for the purpose of developing a tool since the extent to which each risk category is relevant in a location is given through a risk score out of ten, and by providing risk thresholds. The data provided by these indicators

can be efficiently adopted to characterize which drivers of conflict are present in different regions, as well as the extent to which these drivers are worrisome.

#### Linking drivers and climate-peace mechanisms

#### Natural hazards

According to the INFORM methodology, the Natural Hazard dimension reflects the probability of physical exposure to different natural hazards (Marin-Ferrer et al., 2017). The natural hazards considered are earthquakes, tsunamis, floods, tropical cyclones, and drought.

Discussions around the links between natural hazards and conflict are prevalent in the literature. Nel and Righarts (2008) and Nardulli et al. (2015) are just two examples of studies which discuss the connection. Natural hazards can lead to resource scarcity and heighten imbalances in access to resources. This may deepen existing grievances, amplifying tensions between groups. Drought, for example, leads to water scarcity and diminish suitable pastureland for grazing in rural communities. This can result in conflict amongst pastoral communities, as has been well documented in Kenya (Njiru, 2012). Furthermore, tensions may be amplified by unequal distribution of aid after a natural hazard, or protective measures beforehand. The findings in de Juan et al. (2020), which analyzed aid distribution and social conflict in the aftermath of the earthquake in Nepal, illustrates this point. The findings suggested that the more aid distributed, the more the conflict-mitigating effects of the earthquake, such as community solidarity, were weakened. In addition, the study found that aid can amplify pre-existing social inequalities, and by extension social conflict. Natural hazards, through their impacts on livelihoods, have also been reported as encouraging individuals to join armed groups as an alternative source of income (van Baalen and Mobjörk, 2018). The study suggests that individuals who cannot sustain themselves or their families through agriculture may join an armed group, identifying this as one of the major mechanisms linking climate-related environmental change with conflict in East Africa. This mechanism has also been identified in Iraq (Hassan et al., 2018), another population largely dependent on rain-fed agriculture, and India (Wischnath and Buhaug, 2014). Finally, weak governmental institutions and responses to natural hazards can be a factor in conflict (Harris et al., 2013). If the governance structures designed to ensure human security are weak, social cohesion may be undermined and lead to increased chances of instability and conflict (Vivekananda, 2011).

Considering these links between natural hazards and conflict, there are a number of related climate peace mechanisms which should be incorporated into an intervention to render it conflict-sensitive and mitigate the links discussed above. **Building institutions** is key for conflict-sensitizing interventions. Climate change risks undermine the capacity of institutions to ensure human security and may be already weakened in fragile or conflict-affected states (FCAS). Strong institutions are essential if a country is to adapt to climate shocks, and for the population to be protected, avoiding the conditions which may lead to instability, including high levels of unemployment. This links with the **economic development** climate peace mechanism. Given the impacts of climate change and conflict on livelihoods, particularly rural ones, creating and sustaining livelihoods is important for stability, and mitigating destabilizing trends often associated with external factors, such as migration and displacement. Improving **resource sustainability** could reduce the risk of instability resulting from natural hazards. These includes avoiding future conflicts over scarce natural resources through restoration frameworks, and improving access to, and availability of, resources. Finally, **building capacity and resilience** in response to climate hazards is an important

climate-peace mechanism that should be incorporated into interventions. Identifying local assets and needs and decreasing the sensitivity of exposed areas are two suggested ways to achieve this.

#### Human hazards

The INFORM methodology considers Human Hazards to be either technological or sociological in nature. For example, industrial accidents with environmental impacts are considered to be technological human hazards, whereas sociological hazards include civil wars and terrorism (Marin-Ferrer et al., 2017). The methodology includes two variables within the Human Hazards dimension: conflict intensity and projected risk of conflict.

Like natural disasters, the consequences of industrial disasters have the potential to lead to conflict (Harris et al., 2013; Shrivastava, 1987). The pervasive conditions after an industrial accident (such as the Bhopal disaster), may enhance grievances and inequalities. Considering this, it's worth emphasizing how social vulnerability plays a role in determining the capacity of different groups to respond to disasters (Kramarz, 2022). Such inequality can be exacerbated by disasters, resulting in discrepancies between groups in access to aid and support during recovery. This may deepen disillusionment, and underlines the importance of institutional response to disasters, which influence the likelihood of instability triggered by a disaster. An unequal response, or one deemed to favor particular groups, is one way by which a disaster may lead to unrest and dissatisfaction. Furthermore, the industrial accident happening in the first place may lead to resentment, and dissatisfaction with governance structures and institutions. Climate investments which aren't conflict sensitive can be considered as a technological hazard. Without conflict-sensitivity adaptation projects can result in marginalization, fuel grievances or other maladaptive outcomes (Kramarz, 2022; Cao et al., 2021). Several studies examine the connection between interventions and conflict. These include Alusiola et al. (2021) studying forest management projects, and Tänzler (2013), which identified the importance of land-use and land-tenure rights in adaptation projects.

The threats posed by human hazards therefore link with several conflict-peace mechanisms. Firstly, building institutions is key to both ensuring an effective and equal response to a disaster. Strong institutions are likely important to reduce the chances of an industrial accident occurring, for example by ensuring strict safety guidelines and regulations. Building capacity and resilience is another important climate-peace mechanism, key to improving the ability of individuals impacted by such disasters to recover, without resorting to maladaptive livelihood strategies. For example, this could be achieved through providing social protection schemes. Building trust and cooperation serves as an important step to protect against conflict stemming from human hazards. This could be achieved through fostering social cohesion and cooperative behavior. The empowerment of vulnerable groups by involving them in decision making processes, for example in aid distribution post-disaster, would prevent marginalization and resentment between groups. Finally, economic development represents a further mechanism with the potential to negate the risks presented above. For example, bolstering equitable and efficient delivery of public services could mitigate inequalities between groups, from which tension can stem after a disaster. In addition, increasing government revenues, attracting foreign investment, and raising available resources for the provision of public goods and services could reduce the risk of a disaster occurring, whilst improving the capacity to respond to them.

#### Socio-economic vulnerabilities

The socio-economic vulnerability category captures the demographics of a country rather than focusing on particular social groups (Marin-Ferrer et al., 2017). Based on three core components; development and

deprivation, inequality, and aid dependency, this dimension measures the ability of individuals or households to ensure overall human security and well-being. Thus, socio-economic vulnerability is not only linked to income levels but also addresses the underlying factors that cause and perpetuate low development outcomes.

While the relationship between socio-economic vulnerability and conflict escalation has been widely covered in the literature, Ide et al. (2020) observed that those interlinkages are not unidirectional. On the one hand, conflicts can intensify pre-existing structural vulnerabilities, such as economic inequalities and cultural stereotypes, or create new ones, like displacement and violence (Zhukova, 2020). They can also cause setbacks in development, impacting countries' economies and leading to weaker and less accountable institutions (Denny & Walter, 2014; Word Bank, 2022). On the other hand, structural risk factors, such as weak social services, inefficient justice systems, and a history of violence, can induce conflict (Barnett & Adger, 2007).

Literature on climate security has widely documented how climate change interacts with pre-existing insecurities to further enhance the risk of conflict (Ruttinger, 2015). Examples of this can be found in Gillmore (2017), Ide (2017), and Abrahams (2019). In sub-Saharan Africa, the conflicts in Darfur, Sudan, illustrate the complex interplay between physical, environmental, and economic vulnerability (Ide et al., 2020). For instance, the effects of climate change on agricultural livelihoods, which heavily rely on natural resources, pose threats to food security, potentially leading to conflict. Some research on climate and conflict has focused on disasters (Brzoska, 2018; Mena, 2019), defined as emergencies that occur when extreme hazards strike vulnerable socio-economic systems (Cohen & Werker, 2008). According to Siddiqi (2018) and Walch (2018), conflicts can increase vulnerability to disaster, as the provision of goods and essential services are often disrupted (Hilhorst et al., 2019). Schleussner et al. (2018) have underlined how countries identified as vulnerable to conflict outbreaks are, at the same time, emerging hotspots of future climate impacts.

Several climate-peace mechanisms can be considered to address the linkages between socio-economic vulnerability and conflicts. First, **building capacity and resilience** by increasing transformative capacities could help tackle vulnerabilities' root causes. Engaging local actors in dignified production activities could promote greater justice and inclusion. Given the harmful effects of conflict on highly vulnerable socio-economic systems, social protection schemes could reduce the low rates of human development and inequality. Second, **building trust and cooperation** is vital to enhance social cohesion, reducing political exclusion, and fostering shared identities. This could be achieved by integrating local communities and institutions into development interventions. Third, the **economic development** climate-peace mechanism is vital to avoid deepening existing inequalities and exacerbating the risks of conflict. Diversifying income and livelihoods, developing value chain infrastructure, and fostering investment are suggested ways to counteract those risks. Fourth, promoting **resource sustainability** can mitigate pressures on scarce resources and unsustainable practices that can lead to resource degradation and agricultural stagnation. Finally, **building institutions** and state capacities could reduce the application of negative coping strategies in the face of a climate catastrophe. Without a robust institutional environment, any external factor can increase the likelihood of a conflict outbreak in the short term.

#### Vulnerable groups

Within a country, populations comprising vulnerable groups share particular features that make them more likely to require humanitarian aid or be denied financial, health care, and social support services

(INFORM, 2017). These may be individual characteristics, such as disabilities or illness, or the result of social, political, and environmental external circumstances. The latter can be linked to ethnic minorities, refugees and internally displaced persons (IDPs), or populations highly exposed to frequent hazards (INFORM, 2017). The degree of vulnerability is often associated with interconnected weaknesses that lead to increased risk. This intersectionality is observed, for example, in indigenous groups, who not only tend to be marginalized due to ethnic factors (social) but also live in territories that are highly exposed to climate change (environmental) and are often excluded from decision-making and the exercise of their rights (political).

Vulnerable groups face disproportionate risks during conflicts (Peters et al., 2019), as they have limited social and material resources to respond to these situations. Conflict scenarios exacerbate these vulnerabilities, for example, by affecting food security and potentially inducing forced displacement (Townsend et al., 2021). In 2021, over 139 million people lived in countries where conflict was the primary cause of severe food insecurity (GRFC, 2022). Conflicts can also destroy civilian infrastructure, restricting access to basic services and undermining human security (Sowers and Weinthal, 2021). The Yemeni War (2011-2019) illustrates how the destruction of hospitals, agricultural infrastructure, roads, and water supply systems mainly affects vulnerable populations, such as IDPs (Sowers and Weinthal, 2021). While conflicts increase the vulnerability of the most disadvantaged, the governments' biased responses to manage these crises can indirectly exacerbate existing inequalities (Hilhorst et al., 2019). For example, the cash grants disbursed by the Myanmar government to mitigate the effects of the 2015 cyclone that ravaged Rakhine ended up in the hands of the local Buddhist elite, who are not systemically discriminated against, unlike Muslim minorities (Hilhorst et al., 2019).

Conversely, increased vulnerability can also heighten the risk of conflict, especially when compounded by climate change (Brzoska & Fröhlich, 2016). According to Barnett and Adger (2007), a group's vulnerability to climate impacts is related to the extent to which they are dependent on natural resources, the extent to which these resources are sensitive to climate change, and the adaptative capacity of the group. Typically, vulnerable populations have less access to resources and less ability to anticipate and adapt to change (Carter and Kelly, 2021). This is especially visible in contexts where governments lack efficient mechanisms to protect citizens, institutions and governance structures do not enable crisis risk management, and power holders do not promote equitable resource allocation (Harris et al., 2013).

There are several climate-peace mechanisms to reduce the risks of conflicts mentioned above. As vulnerability is both material and epistemic, **enhancing knowledge** is a strong climate-peace mechanism to counteract the cultural risks of conflicts. The coexistence of several knowledge systems leads to a better understanding of the elements that can foster adaptive capability and community resilience (Rarai et al., 2022). Through the **economic development** mechanism, creating sustainable and resilient livelihoods is key to stabilizing vulnerable groups. For vulnerable farmers, this can be achieved by enabling access to formal sources of credit and climate-resilient seeds, strengthening markets, and promoting value chain development. Similarly, restoring degrading infrastructure could foster the provision of public goods and services.

Furthermore, improving **resource sustainability** could increase resilience among disadvantaged groups. In times of crisis and resource scarcity, diversifying the natural resource base, promoting climate-smart practices, and restoring degraded ecosystems are powerful strategies that can lessen conflict risk. **Building institutions** and improving governance mechanisms is crucial to enable an equitable distribution of resources among vulnerable populations (Harris et al., 2013). In environments where the prevalence of vulnerable groups is high, strengthening the capacity of governance structures at the local and national levels is essential. Key institutions to support vulnerable farmers include regulated markets, agricultural advisory services, secure property rights, and tenure government policies (Oxfam, 2009).

#### Lack of infrastructural coping capacity

According to JRC's INFORM Risk model, the risk category on the lack of infrastructural coping capacity measures societal abilities to cope with disasters through organized activities, financial and economic systems, and the existing infrastructures (Marin-Ferrer et al., 2017). This risk category looks at the extent to which public structures support communities with disaster response and recovery, thus with strengthening resistance to cope with shocks. It incorporates three main sub-categories: communication networks, physical infrastructures and accessibility to health systems components, which are subsequently subdivided into indicators of access to electricity, adult literacy rate, roads density, access to improved water source and access to improved sanitation facilities. This risk category can thus proxy the economic and infrastructural capacities to cope with shocks.

The absence of economic and infrastructural capacities can lead to increased tensions, especially when combined with other drivers of conflict, as it can translate into limiting people's capabilities to sustain livelihoods, exacerbating poverty, vulnerability and inequality, and thus leading to more grievances and disputes (Liebig et al., 2022). For instance, contexts with more developed infrastructures are more likely to be able to cope with shocks and conditions of insecurity as people can be provided with the necessary resources to endure crises when these occur, whereas administrative areas with poorly developed infrastructures risk facing more struggles to sustain their needs and fall into more disputes and competition for resources (Detges, 2016). Low infrastructural coping capacity can magnify tensions related to resource scarcity as it further impairs abilities to access them. This phenomenon can be illustrated by a study conducted in Indonesia, where rainfall shocks and droughts lead to land-grabbing and create small-scale civil conflicts between rice producers (Gatti, Baylis & Crost 2021). The results of this research showed that districts provided with irrigation structures significantly experienced less conflict since these infrastructures mitigated drops in agricultural productivity and losses, while also preventing resource-related disputes (Gatti, Baylis & Crost 2021). Furthermore, Detges studied why some areas in sub-Saharan Africa experience armed conflict in the occurrence of droughts while other do not and found that access to road and water infrastructures significantly prevents violence (2016). Conversely, low infrastructural coping capacity can also exacerbate tensions related to resource abundance as it can create more disparities in people's capacity to access them, and thereafter leading to more tensions.

The climate-peace mechanisms that result as most relevant for addressing weak infrastructural coping capacities to shocks are **economic development** and **building institutions**. When governing systems cannot provide the adequate economic infrastructures needed to recover from shocks, climate adaptation interventions supporting livelihoods with economic development will facilitate communities to rebound at the household level. In this sense, in contexts where infrastructural capacity lacks, interventions that create livelihoods and sustain existing ones will at least secure income and food production, reducing the potential for conflict and insecurity, whereas the development and restoration of communal spaces and infrastructures will facilitate income-generating activities and diffuse tensions (Dresse et al., 2019). In addition, building institutions will be critical since infrastructural interventions require high-level interventions. Also, building institutions will ensure that such infrastructures are distributed fairly through addressing power imbalances. Other climate-peace mechanisms can be considered as less crucial in

addressing low infrastructural coping capacity to shocks since they are rather geared toward local peacebuilding needs, such as building trust and cooperation, while developing infrastructures requires more administrative-level solutions.

#### Lack of institutional coping capacity

INFORM's risk category on the lack of institutional coping capacity measures governmental abilities to cope with disasters through organized institutional systems and it examines the extent to which governments assist communities with disaster preparedness, early warning, and increasing community resilience to shocks (Marin-Ferrer et al., 2017). This category comprises three main components, namely disaster risk reduction, which asserts the extent to which preparedness to shocks is prioritized within the institutions, government effectiveness, which capture the quality of public services and policies, and perceived corruption, evaluating the level of power abuse in state bodies (Marin-Ferrer et al., 2017).

Like the absence of infrastructural coping capacity, the lack of institutional capacity to cope with shocks can be associated with insecurity due to weak governance and administrative systems. Climate and environmental factors are rarely direct causes of conflict, whereas weak institutions are commonly recognized as a conflict and insecurity driver since they can lead to societal instability, particularly when coupled with other risk factors (Forsyth & Schomerus, 2013; Peters et al., 2020; Hagmann & Mulugeta, 2008). For instance, examples of pastoral disputes illustrate how low institutional capacities can lead to conflict in the occurrence of droughts. Hagmann and Mulugeta advocate that resource governance is often under-represented when discussing intergroup conflicts in pastoral systems to make space for environmental factors, such as droughts, and that more attention should be given to these drivers (2008). In Ethiopia, for example, much attention has been brought to drought as the direct cause of intercommunal disputes for pastureland through resource scarcity, whereas weak resource governance ingrained in ethnic federalism only magnified disparities in access to resources and played a significant role in driving competition and conflict between pastoralists from different ethnic groups (Hagmann & Mulugeta, 2008). Thus, governments' ineffectiveness to cope with shocks related to natural resource scarcity can create competition between resource users, inequalities, marginalization, and conditions of insecurity leading to conflicts. Similarly, weak institutional capacities are also of concern for conflict in situations characterized by natural resource abundance (Peters et al., 2020). For instance, a study has shown that in the Horn of Africa there is a positive correlation between abundance of vegetation cover and the rates of conflicts and cattle raid between pastoralists, which was directly related to weak resource governance regarding property rights (Meir, Bond & Bond, 2007). In addition, the absence of governance effectiveness to prevent shocks undermines communal-level resilience against hazards, which can translate into more fragile and conflict-prone systems (Peters et al., 2020).

Several climate-peace mechanisms can be considered as relevant in addressing the conflict drivers related to the absence of institutional coping capacity. **Building institutions** appears as critical for addressing resource-scarcity and abundance related disputes since facilitating legal pluralism and resource rights can mitigate, enhancing institutional capacities for good environmental governance and strengthening government regimes will mitigate conflicts over natural resources (Dresse et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2021). Additionally, since poor governance effectiveness can lead to societal instability, marginalization and ethnic exclusion, **building trust and cooperation** through climate action interventions can mediate and reduce conflict potentials through creating shared identities, enhancing social cohesion and empowering vulnerable groups (Dresse et al., 2019). Similarly, **enhancing knowledge** could address the social exclusion and marginalization since facilitating environmental education while fostering different

ontologies around environmental resources has been shown to create shared identities and acceptance of 'the other' as a legitimate user of shared landscapes (Huda, 2021). Lastly, since the absence of institutional coping capacities also relates to reduced communal resilience to withstand and prepare for shocks, and therefore to increased fragility and instability, **building capacities and resilience** is a suitable climate-peace mechanism for this risk category.

# 5. The Climate Security Sensitiveness Tool (CSST)

### Background

Climate adaptation interventions, such as programs promoting climate-smart agricultural innovations, are proving effective in increasing farmer resilience as well as food and nutrition security (Mizik, 2021; Thornton et al., 2022). However, there is often little understanding of the potential positive and negative externalities that these programs can have, particularly in terms of peace and security. Maladaptation can create and sustain lock-ins, magnify inequity, marginalize people, and places vulnerable to climate-related risks, such as low-income households, people who reside in informal settlements, ethnic minorities, Indigenous Peoples among others (IPCC, 2022). These are commonly recognized drivers of conflict which must be accounted for while designing programs to avoid creating or exacerbating conflicts.

The CGIAR Focus Climate Security has been contributing to addressing maladaptation through the development of a climate security sensitiveness tool (CSST), a programming assessment tool for conflict-sensitive and peace-responsive climate action in agricultural interventions. The CSST is a means for change agents from governmental and non-governmental organizations to support rural communities to adapt to climate change while reducing the potential for conflict of their programs and maximize social cohesion and integration.

The CSST is employed on the premise that any fragile context is characterized by a unique set of risk factors for crises that can lead to insecurity and conflict, including natural hazards, human hazards, socioeconomic vulnerabilities, vulnerable groups, low institutional capacity to cope with shocks, and infrastructural coping capacity. These risk categories are retrieved from the crisis risk model developed by the Joint Research Center of the European Commission, the INFORM Risk model (Marin-Ferrer et al., 2017). Crisis risk models are particularly relevant for characterizing the contextual drivers of conflict and insecurity of different geographies as they assess threats to humans' wellbeing from a systemic approach while considering the complexity of the interlinkages between natural and socio-political vulnerability factors, leading to fragility and in some cases to conflict (Borodzicz, 2005; Simpson et al., 2021; Stein & Walch, 2017).

The tool draws on the growing body of research on environmental peacebuilding, which is the practice of using environmental challenges and resource-based disputes as opportunities to build intra- and intercommunal cooperation, social integration, and peace through the transformation of natural resource management strategies (Krampe, Hegazi & VanDeveer, 2021). It employs frameworks on environmental peacebuilding, developed by Dresse et al. (2019) and Johnson et al. (2021), to express how climate adaptation can contribute to peacebuilding through a Climate-Peace Framework. The framework introduces six climate-peace mechanisms: economic development, building institutions, building trust and cooperation, resource sustainability, enhancing knowledge and building capacity and resilience. Climate-peace mechanisms translate how different characteristics of climate action interventions can address conflict drivers, such as by strengthening livelihoods, improving resource governance, or addressing inequality or environmental degradation. They can be conceptualized as the means through which conflict drivers can be addressed to attain climate-resilient peace.

Through literature reviews, climate-peace mechanisms have been linked to the crisis risk categories presented above, based on their relevance in addressing them. Risk categories are here referred to as conflict and insecurity drivers. Table 3 summarizes the linkages between mechanisms and drivers stemming from this review and shows which mechanisms are critical to counteract the drivers identified. For instance, the table shows that building institution is a crucial component in addressing all drivers of conflict and insecurity.

DRIVERS OF CONFLICT & INSECURITY		1				
	Economic Development	Building Institutions	Building trust and cooperation	Resource sustainability	Enhancing knowledge	Building capacity and resilience
Lack of infrastructural coping capacity	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
Lack of institutional coping capacity		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Human hazards	1	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$
Natural hazards	1	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$
Vulnerable groups	1	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Socioeconomic vulnerabilities	1	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$

Table 3: Theoretical relationships between climate-peace mechanisms and drivers of conflict and insecurity. Tick marks show which climate-peace mechanisms are critical to tackle each conflict and insecurity driver

### Purpose and target

The CSST is meant to be adopted at the designing phase of a project. It aims to improve the suitability of agricultural climate adaptation program designs in relation to these pre-existing drivers of conflict and insecurity, and to enable recommendations on how they can be more effectively implemented. It does so by prioritizing climate-peace mechanisms based on the risk levels of contextual drivers. An ideal set of climate-peace mechanisms for a given context is provided which can be compared to the set of mechanisms currently delivered by the proposed program design, allowing practitioners to re-define their intervention plan in order to match the ideal mechanisms.

This tool targets practitioners, decision makers and multilateral institutes interested in diagnostic research for peace responsive climate action in the context of rural development. The CSST is useful for stakeholders investing in and designing an agricultural climate action program with the goal to prevent maladaptation and related unintended consequences, avoid conflict relapses and contribute to peacebuilding.

### Methodology

Central to this tool is the idea that context-specific drivers of conflict and insecurity can be addressed by a specific set of climate-peace mechanisms. The CSST results into two main outputs: the projection of an ideal set of climate-peace mechanisms for the selected context, and the set of mechanisms currently delivered by the proposed program design.

#### Defining ideal climate-peace mechanism scores for a given context

Locally relevant conflict drivers are identified using an indicator-based approach. Indicators are assessed at the national, regional and local levels according to the set of pre-defined potential conflict drivers listed above, sourced from the Joint Research Centre's INFORM risk index (Marin-Ferrer et al., 2017). Indicators are assessed on a scale from 0 and 10, with risk-level values varying between categories. Table 4 shows the risk threshold classes for each driver.

Table 4: Classes thresholds in INFORM (Marin Ferrer M., Vernaccini L., & Poljansek K., 2017)

Category	CLASS	MAX	MIN
	very high	10.0	6.9
F	high	6.8	4.7
IUI	medium	4.6	2.8
NA	low	2.7	1.3
	very low	1.2	0.0
	very high	10.0	9.0
z	high	8	7
M	medium	6.9	3.1
Ŧ	low	3.0	1.0
	very low	0.9	0.0
	very high	10.0	7.1
AIC -	high	7.0	5.4
NOI	medium	5.3	3.5
SC	low	3.4	1.8
	very low	1.7	0.0
ш	very high	10.0	6.3
ABLI	high	6.2	4.4
IER/	medium	4.3	2.9
ULN GR	low	2.8	1.6
>	very low	1.5	0.0
AL	very high	10.0	7.3
NO	high	7.2	6.0
5	medium	5.9	4.9
STIL	low	4.8	3.3
Z	very low	3.2	0.0
RE	very high	10.0	7.4
CTU	high	7.3	5.4
TRU	medium	5.3	3.5
RAS	low	3.4	2.1
IN IN	very low	2.0	0.0

These risk threshold classes enable to provide a weight of severeness of the drivers. Drivers featuring very high risk are assigned a weight of 5, high risk is assigned a weight of 4, medium risk is assigned a weight of 3, low risk is assigned a weight of 2, and very low risk is assigned a weight of 1. Drivers' risk severeness informs on the relevance of the mechanisms they are linked to. Mechanisms' relevance scores are then defined by summing the weights of drivers that each mechanism is crucial for addressing (see table 3 for mechanisms-drivers linkages). For instance, if all drivers feature a very high-risk class (risk weight of 5), the building institutions mechanism will get a relevance score of 30 as it is relevant for all six drivers, while the enhancing knowledge mechanism will get a relevance score of 10 as it is only relevant for two drivers. Conversely if all drivers feature a very low-risk class (risk weight of 1), the building institution mechanism will get a relevance score of 6, while enhancing knowledge will get a relevance score of 2. Thus, maximum and minimum relevance scores vary between mechanisms due to their differences in addressing each driver. In order to visually project mechanisms' relevance as a proportion of importance for a given context these scores are thereafter standardized. For this, relevance scores are divided by the maximum score they can get and expressed as percentages. In this sense, the maximum score a mechanism can get is adopted as denominator. Being 5 the higher driver risk severeness weight, the maximum relevance score for economic development will be a fraction out of 25 since it is crucial for addressing five drivers, the one for building institutions will be a fraction out of 30 since it is critical for addressing all six drivers,

the one for building trust and cooperation will be a fraction out of 20 since it links to four drivers, the one for resource sustainability will be a fraction out of 15 since it is critical for three drivers, the one for enhancing knowledge will be a fraction out of 10 since it only addresses two drivers, and the ones for building capacity and resilience will be a fraction out of 20 since it addresses four drivers. These fractions, which are visually represented as percentages, display the ideal scores for each mechanism for the local context identified on a spider chart.

Defining climate peace mechanism scores delivered by proposed climate action intervention Through the building of the Climate-Peace Framework, mechanisms were qualified into sub-mechanisms which characterize how climate adaptation efforts can contribute to fulfilling these mechanisms, and therefore contribute to peace (see table 2). A scoring system was developed upon these sub-mechanisms to assess the contribution towards each climate-peace mechanism of a climate action program design. Sub-mechanisms are given a score of either 0, 0.5 or 1, with 0 being the absence of the component in the program design, 1 being its presence, whereas 0.5 is given when the sub-mechanism is somehow or indirectly fulfilled. Sub-mechanism scores are then averaged to inform a score for each climate-peace mechanism. Mechanisms' overall scores are expressed as percentages and plotted on a spider chart.

### How to use the tool

The CSST is composed of two main steps: the context definition and the climate action scoring system. Implementing the first component results in the projection of the ideal set of climate-peace mechanisms for the selected context, while the second component provides the set of mechanisms currently delivered by the proposed program design. Visually aligning these two sets enables practitioners to re-define their intervention to match the ideal mechanisms.

The interface of the CSST is an excel file with four sheets, one for the context definition step, one for the climate action scoring system, one for displaying the results and an auxiliary sheet where data is accessed.

### Step 1: Context definition

In the context definition step, users can select the country, the region and the municipality in which the proposed climate adaptation program is planned on being implemented. Due to data availability limitations, only some countries will display data at the regional and municipal levels. The tool then automatically plots the indicators scores for each driver, retrieved from JRC's INFORM Risk databases. The cells containing indicator scores are automatically highlighted, either in red, yellow or green. Cells highlighted in green show drivers featuring very low and low-risk levels, cells highlighted in yellow show drivers featuring medium-risk levels, and cells highlighted in red show drivers featuring high and very high-risk levels. The color-codes provide users with a broad understanding of the worrisome risk factors in the context they plan on implementing their program. Figure 3 shows the interface of the CSST for step 1, with a context definition example for the Colombian municipality of Coveñas, in the region of Sucre.

Step 1: Context Definition									
Country			Drivers of conflict and insecurity						
(select country	Region (select region below)	Municipality		w infrastructural	Low	Human	Natural	Vulnerable	Socio-
below)		(select municipality below)		capacities	institutional capacities	hazards	hazards	groups	economic vulnerabilities
Colombia	Sucre	Coveñas	-	6.824068046	6.82406805	1.810037	2.8022894	3.2271799	4.8489087
		Caimito	^						
		Coloso							
	Corozal								
		Coveñas							
		El Roble							
		Galeras Guaranda	~						

Figure 3: Interface of the CSST context definition step (step 1)

#### Step 2: Climate action scoring system

In the climate action scoring system step, the user scores the proposed climate adaptation intervention across the different sub-mechanisms. Examples and proxies are provided for the user to get an understanding of the characteristics a climate adaptation intervention needs to include in order to fulfill those sub-mechanisms. The user can only fill the scores with either a 1, a 0.5 or a 0 in the cells under the column 'Sub-mechanism scores'. A score of 1 can be added when the sub-mechanism is fully fulfilled, a score of 0.5 when the sub-mechanisms is partly or indirectly fulfilled, and a score of 0 when the sub-mechanism is not fulfilled. Thereafter, the user must justify the selection of scores it placed by adding concrete explanations on how the program contributes to addressing the sub-mechanism. This is done for each sub-mechanism's row, under the column 'notes'. Figure 4 shows the interface of the CSST for step 2 with an example of the scoring process for two climate peace mechanisms: economic development and building institutions.

	Step 2: Scoring System								
Climate-Peace Mechanism	ID	Sub-mechanism	Indicators & examples/practices	Sub-mechanism score {0 - 0.5 - 1}	Notes				
	1.1.	Create livelihoods and sustain existing ones	Secure food production: provision of necessary inputs, irrigation sources, climate information Diversify income and livelihood: spread farm operations, mixed-systems approach, analyte market visue chains to address bottlenecks and identify opportunities for added visue Restore degraded infrastructures: sustain/introduce irrigation systems, mechanization itechnologies	1	Through the nurseries, the program endorese alternative sources of income, particularly for women. Farmers are also encouraged to incorporate small livestock, sourch as poultry, sheep and goars, incluther if arms to boart resilience, income and food security. Similarly, the package may include climate-smart technologies, and climate information services.				
1. Economic development	1.2.	Develop bi-communal spaces and infrastructures	Introduce Intercommunal Infrastructures: develop shared collecting/ storing/ processing/ transporting facilities for produce Scalible access to intercommend executions, acted failow, space/pactures	0	The program does not include the develop bi-communal spaces and infrastructures.				
	1.3.	Foster the provision of public goods and services	Bolster equilable and efficient delivery of public services: monitor funds allocation, increase availability of extension services Increase government revenues from natural resource management: increase available resources for the provision of public goods and services, foster foreign investment	0	While the program provides extension and animal health services and training, it does not stimulate the delivery of public services.				
				0.5	cials of the program work in collaboration with national agricultural research and				
	2.1.	Enhance institutional capacities for good environmental governance	Address the Eillicit use of natural resources: monitor protected areas/resources Address the conflict economy: reduce corruption, promote transparency addin astural resource management governance, institutions, and capacities: fortify subnational institutions, involve authorities in administration of program	0.5	submission systems, and rural communities, testing institutional options for mitgating climate impacts in agriculture. At a local level, the aim is to integrate CSA practices into the County Integrate Development Plans and Local Adaptation Plans of Action. This process will provide further lessons on how to engage policy makers to support scaling out and us of good practices from the field.				
2. Building institutions	2.2.	Facilitate legal pluralism and resource rights	Secure property rights: map properties, address legal ambiguities on natural resource tenure and rights, certify resource rights Deploy effective conflict management and resolution processes: facilitate communication and negotiation around resources	0	Propety rights issues and legal pluralism are not mentioned in the program design.				
	2.3.	Foster equitable distribution of resources and benefits	Regulates the use of and rights to resource more effectively and equilatily: make tensor governance policies more inclusive, transparent, and fair, strengthen the links between formal and informal natural resource management systems, reform attuat resource management policies Ensure program benefits are evenly distributed across groups: all relevant actors concerned are made assure of the project and its benefits.	0.5	The program aims to integrate farmers to help them better manage climate risks and dapt to climate change. Collective action is encouraged for the pooling of barnardial resources through Rotating Savings and Credit Association (ROSCA) schemes, as well as the pooling of bard ordiuring planting and harvesting, which is based on sharecropping principles. Grouping "beneficiaries" together indirectly ensures a more uniform distribution of program benefits.				

Figure 4: Interface of the CSST climate action scoring system step (step 2)

#### Results

The results sheet of the tool's interface provides the user with an overview of the results and a graphic representation of ideal combination of mechanisms scores for the selected region (left spider-chart in figure 5), and the mechanisms scores for the proposed climate action intervention (right spider-chart in figure 5). Based on the resulting ideal mechanisms (a), the user can assess whether the mechanisms scores featuring the proposed climate action program design (b) score high as well. If relevant context-specific mechanisms score low, the user can consider further integrating sub-mechanism features in the proposed program. Figure 5 shows the spider charts resulting from using the tool for a climate adaptation intervention in the context of Coveñas. Based on the ideal set of climate-peace mechanism scores (a) displayed in figure 5, the user can see that the proposed climate adaptation intervention (b) adequately includes features for the climate-peace mechanisms 'resource sustainability' and 'building trust and cooperation', and insufficiently addresses the mechanisms 'resource sustainability' and 'building institutions'.

The data for the two charts results from different methodologies, since ideal mechanisms scores are defined through combining weights and risk score indicators while the ones for the proposed intervention come from the user filling the scoring systems. Therefore, the two spider charts are not numerically

comparable, and the comparison between the two graphs should be made with caution. The left chart informs on the extent to which each mechanism is relevant for the selected context, whereas the right chart informs on the extent to which each mechanism is incorporated by the proposed intervention. The comparison between the two graphs should then be approximate.



Figure 5: Interface of the CSST results: spider chart of the ideal climate-peace mechanisms scores for the selected context (left) and spider chart of the climate-peace mechanism scores for the proposed intervention (right)

The results provided by the tool can be useful to formulate recommendations on how climate adaptation programs can address contextual drivers of conflict and insecurity more effectively. When the user has identified the relevant mechanisms for addressing contextual drivers that are underrepresented in the proposed program, improvements can be made to the design by further incorporating sub-mechanisms that led to a low score for those relevant mechanisms. Figure 6 shows the intervention's sub-mechanisms scores. In this case, by having identified economic development and building institutions as relevant mechanisms that the proposed design did not sufficiently integrate, the user can then incorporate more sub-mechanisms pertaining those mechanisms (figure 6). For example, the user can improve the program design by integrating features to facilitate the development of bi-communal spaces and infrastructures, foster the provision of public good and services, and facilitate legal pluralism and resource rights.

	STEP 2: SCORING SYSTEM			
Mechanisms	Sub-mechanisms	Sco	re	
	1.1. Create livelihoods and sustain existing ones	1		
Economic development	1.2. Develop bi-communal spaces and infrastructures	0	0.33	
	1.3. Foster the provision of public goods and services	0		
	2.1. Enhance institutional capacities for good environmental governance	0.5		
Building institutions	2.2. Facilitate legal pluralism and resource rights		0.33	
	2.3. Foster equitable distribution of resources and benefits	0.5		
	3.1. Involve both high and grass-root levels while minimizing transboundary contacts	1		
Building trust and cooperation	3.2. Foster intercommunal trust and create shared identities 3.3. Enhance social cohesion and empower vulnerable groups		0.67	
	4.1. Restore degraded ecosystems			
Resource sustainability	4.2. Foster adoption of practices for sustainable use of resources	1	0.5	
	4.3. Conserve ecosystems and common-pool resources	0		
False at the law stude days	5.1. Raise public awareness and increase learning opportunities	1		
Ennancing knowledge	5.2. Establish the recognition of diverse ontologies in climate adaptation through grassroots approaches		1	
	6.1. Increase livelihood climate coping capacity	0.5		
Building capacity and resilience	6.2. Increase livelihood climate adaptation capacity			
	6.3. Increase livelihood climate transformative capacity			

Figure 6: Interface of the CSST results: sub-mechanism scores useful to formulate recommendations to better address contextual drivers of conflict and insecurity

# 6. Conclusions and limitations

This paper attempted to lay the theoretical groundwork for linking climate action and peacebuilding, and gather useful evidence to inform programming, investments and policy to achieve the double dividend of climate adaptation and peace. This was done by building the Climate-Peace Framework, a framework for connecting climate adaptation elements to peace-contributing outcomes in order to attain climate-resilient peace. A conflict-sensitive and peace-responsive programming tool was conceptualized through linking the climate-peace mechanisms arising from this framework with existing crisis risk indicators, retrieved from the INFORM Risk model: the Climate Security Sensitiveness Tool. This tool improves the suitability of agricultural climate adaptation program designs in relation to pre-existing drivers of conflict and insecurity and enables recommendations on how they can be more effectively implemented. By doing so, it strives to prevent maladaptation and related unintended consequences, avoid conflict relapses and contribute to peacebuilding. However, this programming tool embodies limitations.

Although crisis risk models can be considered as suitable for characterizing contextual drivers of conflict and insecurity, the use of JRC's INFORM Risk indicators does not fully capture the complexity of climate and security interconnections. For instance, climate-related security issues can arise from slow onset climate impacts, which are not directly integrated within this model. In fact, JRC's indicators capturing climatic risks only feature sudden onset natural hazards as they only take into consideration floods, droughts, cyclones and earthquakes. Therefore, it is difficult for the CSST to capture these indirect linkages. In addition, INFORM Risk indicators often lack granularity since data at the regional and municipal level is not available for all countries. Risk factors and their severity can greatly vary from a municipality to another although being part of the same region. This data-base falls short on capturing localized granular data. To address this limitation, data collection activities on the ground are necessary for validating these indicators.

The CPF incorporates conflict-sensitive foundations as different aspects of climate adaptation programming were systematized to minimize conflict relapses in deeply divided societies, thus minimizing negative impacts, while other ones were systematized to maximize shared identities, social cohesion and substantial integration, thus maximizing positive impacts. However, the way that the tool was developed is more useful for peace-responsiveness since its design is based on prioritizing climate peace-mechanisms in order to address contextual drivers of conflict. Therefore, even though the framework underlying the tool strives for conflict-sensitivity, the CSST hardly provides conflict-sensitive recommendations, but rather peace-responsiveness ones. To become more conflict-sensitive, the tool should further explore addressing the 'initial conditions' characteristics presented by the CPF.

Lastly, a limitation of the tool is that it does not include the perspectives of beneficiaries regarding their perceived needs in terms of climate action interventions. The tool is useful for practitioners, investors and multilateral institutes that need to prioritize climate adaptation features to avoid maladaptation when planning climate adaptation programs. However, the tool provides these users with recommendations based on indicators that quantitatively categorize conflict and insecurity risks. The CSST therefore needs further improvements in order to also include the needs of the beneficiary communities based on qualitatively assessing their needs and perceived climate and insecurity risks.

## 7. References

Abrahams, D. (2019) From discourse to policy: US policy communities' perceptions of and approaches to climate change and security, Conflict, Security & Development, 19:4, 323-345, DOI: 10.1080/14678802.2019.1637080

Acemoglu, D., & Robinson, J. A. (2012). Why nations fail: The origins of power, prosperity, and poverty. New York: Crown Publishers.

Alusiola, R.A., Schilling, J. and Klär, P. (2021) REDD+ Conflict: Understanding the Pathways between Forest Projects and Social Conflict. Forests, 12 (6): 748. doi:10.3390/f12060748.

Barbieri, K. (2002). The Liberal Illusion: Does trade promote peace? Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

Barnett, J. and W.N. Adger (2007) Climate change, human security and violent conflict. Political Geography, 26 (6), pp. 639-655

Barnett M, Kim H, O'Donnell M, et al. (2007). Peacebuilding: What is in a name? Global Governance: A review of multilateralism and international organizations 13(1): 35–58.

Barnett, J., & O'Neill, S. (2010). Maladaptation. Global Environmental Change, 20, 211–213. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2009.11.004

Bollin, C., Cardenas, C., Hahn, H. and Vatsa, K. S. (2003), Natural Disaster Network; Disaster Risk Management by Communities and Local Governments, Washington, D.C.: Inter-American Development Bank.

Bora, S., Ceccacci, I., Delgado, C., & Townsend, R. (2011). Food security and conflict.

Borodzicz, E. P. (2005). Risk, crisis and security management. West Sussex; Hoboken, NJ: J. Wiley & Sons.

van Brabant, K. (2010). What is peacebuilding? Do no harm, conflict-sensitivity and peacebuilding. Interpeace.

Bruch, C., Muffett, C., & Nichols, S. S. (2016). Natural resources and post-conflict governance: Building a sustainable peace. Governance, natural resources, and post-conflict peacebuilding(pp. 1–31).London: Earthscan.

Brzoska, M & Christiane Fröhlich (2016) Climate change, migration and violent conflict: vulnerabilities, pathways and adaptation strategies, Migration and Development, 5:2, 190-210, DOI: 10.1080/21632324.2015.1022973

Burt, M., & Keiru, B. J. (2011). Strengthening post-conflict peacebuilding through community water-resource management: Case studies from Democratic Republic of Congo, Afghanistan and Liberia. Water International, 36, 232–241.

Cao, Y., Alcayna, T., Quevedo, A., et al. (2021) EXPLORING THE CONFLICT BLIND SPOTS IN CLIMATE ADAPTATION FINANCE.

Carius, A. (2006). Environmental cooperation as an instrument of crisis prevention and peacebuilding: Conditions for success and constraints. Berlin, Germany: German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ).

Carius, A. (2006). Environmental Peacebuilding: Conditions for success. Environmental change and security program report, (12), 59.

Carter and Kelly (2021). Social inequalities and famine and severe food insecurity risk. Institute of Development Studies and University of Manchester.

https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/16735/954\_Social\_inequalities\_and\_famine\_and\_sever e\_food\_insecurity\_risk%20.pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y

Christ, O., & Kauff, M. (2019). Intergroup contact theory. In Social psychology in action (pp. 145-161). Springer, Cham.

Cohen, C. snf E.D.W. Werker (2008) The political economy of "natural" disasters J. Confl. Resolut., 52 (2008), pp. 795-819

Conca, K. (2002). In K. Conca & G. Dabelko (Eds.), The case for environmentalpeacemaking(pp. 1–22). Baltimore: Woodrow Wilson Center Press and TheJohns Hopkins University Press.

Denny, E.K and B.F. Walter (2014) Ethnicity and civil war. J. Peace Res., 51 (2014), pp. 199-212

Detges, A. (2016). Local conditions of drought-related violence in sub-Saharan Africa: The role of road and water infrastructures. Journal of Peace Research, 53(5), 696-710.

Devere, H. (2018). Exploring relationships for positive peace. Factis Pax, 12(1), 59-79.

Dresse, A., Fischhendler, I., Nielsen, J. Ø., & Zikos, D. (2019). Environmental peacebuilding: Towards a theoretical framework. Cooperation and Conflict, 54(1), 99-119.

Elias, M. (2018). Mobilizing indigenous and local knowledge for successful restoration.

Everett, J. A., & Onu, D. (2013). Intergroup contact theory: Past, present, and future. The Inquisitive Mind, 2(17), 1-6.

FAO. (2006). Participatory Rural Appraisal (PRA) Manual. Assistance to improve agricultural production and productivity by<br/>promoting technology adaptation. FAO. Accessed in December 2022 at<br/>https://himachal.nic.in/WriteReadData/I892s/15IB92s/1499233403.pdf

Folke, C., Carpenter, S., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Chapin, T., & Rockström, J. (2010). Resilience thinking: integrating resilience, adaptability and transformability. Ecology and society, 15(4).

Folke, C. (2016). Resilience (republished). Ecology and Society, 21(4).

Forsyth, T., & Schomerus, M. (2013). Climate change and conflict: a systematic evidence review. Justice and Security Research Programme, International Development Department, London School of Economics and Political Science, London, UK.

Gatti, N., Baylis, K., & Crost, B. (2021). Can irrigation infrastructure mitigate the effect of rainfall shocks on conflict? Evidence from Indonesia. American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 103(1), 211-231.

Giles, J. (2018). Tradition as a peacebuilding tool. In Law, Religion and Tradition (pp. 153-191). Springer, Cham.

Gilmore, E.A. (2017) Introduction to Special Issue: Disciplinary Perspectives on Climate Change and Conflict. Curr Clim Change Rep 3, 193–199 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40641-017-0081-y

GRFC (2022)

http://www.fightfoodcrises.net/fileadmin/user\_upload/fightfoodcrises/doc/resources/GRFC\_2022\_FINAL\_REPORT.pdf

Hagmann, T., & Mulugeta, A. (2008). Pastoral conflicts and state-building in the Ethiopian lowlands. Africa Spectrum, 19-37.

Harari, N., & Roseman, J. (2008). Environmental Peacebuilding Theory and Practice: A Case Study of the Good Water Neighbours Project. Friends of the Earth Middle East.

Harris, K., Keen, D. and Mitchell, T. (2013) When disasters and conflicts collide. Overseas Development Institute.

Harwell, E. (2016). Building momentum and constituencies for peace: The role of natural resources in transitional justice and peacebuilding. In: Bruch C, Muffett C and Nichols C (eds) Governance, Natural Resources, and Post-Conflict Peacebuilding. London: Earthscan, pp. 633–664.

Hassan, K., Born, C. and Nordqvist, P. (2018) Iraq: Climate-related security risk assessment.

Hellin, J., Ratner, B. D., Meinzen-Dick, R., & Lopez-Ridaura, S. (2018). Increasing social-ecological resilience within small-scale agriculture in conflict-affected Guatemala. Ecology and Society, 23

Hilhorst, D. et al (2019). Disaster risk governance and humanitarian aid in different conflict scenarios. Contributing Paper to GAR

Huda, M. S. (2021). An ecological response to ethno-nationalistic populism: grassroots environmental peacebuilding in south Asia. International Affairs, 97(1), 119-138.

Ide, T. (2015). Why do conflicts over scarce renewable resources turn violent? A qualitative comparative analysis. Global Environmental Change, 33, 61-70.

Ide, T. (2017) Research methods for exploring the links between climate change and conflict. WIREs Clim Change 2017, e456. Doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.456">https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.456</a>

Ide, T. (2019). Environmental peacemaking and environmental peacebuilding in International politics. CLISEC Working Paper 32.

Ide, T., Brzoska, M., Donges, J. F., & Schleussner, C. F. (2020). Multi-method evidence for when and how climate-related disasters contribute to armed conflict risk. Global Environmental Change, 62, 102063.

Ide, T., & Tubi, A. (2020). Education and environmental peacebuilding: Insights from three projects in Israel and Palestine. Annals of the American Association of Geographers, 110(1), 1-17.

Inter Collectivité du Sourou (ICS). (2019). Rapport d'étape sur la Synergie et l'Alignement - Contributions actuelles et potentielles programmes PDIDS/EES des et projets au PDIDS. Volume 4 version 1.0, 26 juin 2019. http://souroumali.com/uploads/sc\_textes/2f5237ce277044766b68aa1b45bfd3f9e929a884d05ca0f3ae528f8ae803dade.pdf

IPCC, 2022: Summary for Policymakers [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, M. Tignor, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem (eds.)]. In: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, B. Rama (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, pp. 3-33, doi:10.1017/9781009325844.001.

Jeans, H., Castillo, G., Thomas, S. (2019). The Future is a Choice. Oxfam. Available at: <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330846192\_The\_Future\_is\_a\_Choice">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330846192\_The\_Future\_is\_a\_Choice</a> [Accessed 14 January 2022].

Jensen, D., & Lonergan, S. (2012). Assessing and restoring natural resources in post conflict peacebuilding. New York: Earthscan.

Johnson, M. F., Rodríguez, L. A., & Hoyos, M. Q. (2021). Intrastate environmental peacebuilding: A review of the literature. World Development, 137, 105150.

de Juan, A., Pierskalla, J. and Schwarz, E. (2020) Natural disasters, aid distribution, and social conflict – Micro-level evidence from the 2015 earthquake in Nepal. World Development, 126: 104715. doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104715

Kett, M., & Rowson, M. (2007). Drivers of violent conflict. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine, 100(9), 403-406.

Koubi, V. (2018). Exploring the relationship between climate change and violent conflict. Chinese Journal of Population Resources and Environment, 16(3), 197-202.

Kramarz, T. (2022) Extractive industry disasters and community responses: a typology of vulnerable subjects. Environmental Politics, 31 (1): 89–109. doi:10.1080/09644016.2021.1978198.

Krampe, F. (2016). Empowering peace: Service provision and state legitimacy in Nepal's peace-building process. Conflict, Security & Development, 16, 53–73.

Krampe, F., Smith, E. S., & Hamidi, M. D. (2021). Security implications of climate development in conflict-affected states: Implications of local-level effects of rural hydropower development on farmers in Herat. Political Geography, 90, 102454.

Krampe, F., Hegazi, F., & VanDeveer, S. D. (2021). Sustaining peace through better resource governance: Three potential mechanisms for environmental peacebuilding. World Development, 144, 105508.

Kriege, T., Panke, D., & Pregernig, M. (2020). Environmental and Resource-Related Conflicts, Migration and Governance. (pp. 1-16). Bristol University Press. doi:10.46692/9781529202175.001

Läderach, P., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Caroli, G., Sadoff, C., & Pacillo, G. (2021). Climate finance and peace—tackling the climate and humanitarian crisis. The Lancet Planetary Health, 5(12), e856-e858.

Lederach, A. J. (2017). "The Campesino Was Born for the Campo": A multispecies approach to territorial peace in Colombia. American Anthropologist, 119, 589–602.

Liebig, T., Pacillo, G., Osorio, D., & Läderach, P. (2022). Food systems science for peace and security: Is research for development key for achieving systematic change?. World Development Sustainability, 100004.

Loboguerrero, A. and Hellin, J., (2021). How CGIAR will help 30 million smallholder farmers adapt to climate change by 2030. [online] CGIAR. Available at: <a href="https://www.cgiar.org/news-events/news/how-cgiar-will-help-30-million-smallholder-farmers-adapt-to-climate-change-by-2030/">https://www.cgiar.org/news-events/news/how-cgiar-will-help-30-million-smallholder-farmers-adapt-to-climate-change-by-2030/> [Accessed 13 January 2022].

Marin Ferrer M., Vernaccini L., & Poljansek K. (2017). INFORM Index for Risk Management: Concept and Methodology, Version 2017\r\n\r\n. EUR 28655 EN. Luxembourg (Luxembourg): Publications Office of the European Union; 2017. JRC106949

Maskrey A., Jain G., Lavell A., Planitz A. (2022). Towards an Actionable Framework for Governing Systemic Risk. UNDP Global Policy Network Brief. UNDP.

McAllister, G., & Wright, J. (2019). Agroecology as a practice-based tool for peacebuilding in fragile environments? Three stories from rural Zimbabwe. Sustainability, 11, 790.

McGinnis, M. D., & Ostrom, E. (2014). Social-ecological system framework: initial changes and continuing challenges. Ecology and society, 19(2).

Meier P, Bond D, Bond J. (2007). Environmental influences on pastoral conflict in the Horn of Africa. Political Geog., 26 (6): 716-735.

Mena, R. (2019). South Sudan: 'Prioritizing disaster response in a context of high-intensity conflict'. International Institute of Social Studies, Erasmus University Rotterdam. <u>https://www.iss.nl/en/research/research-projects/when-disaster-meets-conflict/societal-engagement</u>

Milburn, R. (2012). Mainstreaming the environment into postwar: The case for 'ecological development'. International Affairs, 88, 1083–1100.

Mizik, T. (2021). Climate-smart agriculture on small-scale farms: a systematic literature review. Agronomy, 11(6), 1096.

Molenaar, F., & Nooteboom, S., (2020). Improving decentralised natural resource management in the Sahel: The case of the Sourou River plain in Mali, Clingendael Policy Brief.

Moran, A., Busby, J., Raleigh, C., Smith, T., Kishi, R., Krishnan, N., & Wight, C. (2018). Intersection of global fragility and climate risks. USAID. <u>https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf\_docs/PA00TBFH.pdf</u>.

Mosello, B., & Rüttinger, L. (2020). Linking Adaptation and Peacebuilding: Lessons Learned and the Way Forward. Climate Security Expert Network.

Naoufal, N. (2014). Peace and environmental education for climate change: Challenges and practices in Lebanon. Journal of Peace Education, 11, 279–296.

Nardulli, P.F., Peyton, B. and Bajjalieh, J. (2015) Climate Change and Civil Unrest. Journal of Conflict Resolution, 59 (2): 310–335. doi:10.1177/0022002713503809

Nel, P. and Righarts, M. (2008) Natural Disasters and the Risk of Violent Civil Conflict. International Studies Quarterly, 52 (1): 159–185. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2478.2007.00495.x

Nelson, S & Huyer, S. (2016). A Gender-responsive Approach to Climate-Smart Agriculture, Evidence and guidance for practitioners. Global Alliance for Climate-Smart Agriculture.

Nicoson, C. (2021). Towards climate resilient peace: an intersectional and degrowth approach. Sustainability Science, 16(4), 1147-1158.

Njiru, B.N. (2012) Climate Change, Resource Competition, and Conflict amongst Pastoral Communities in Kenya., pp. 513–527. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-28626-1\_24

Nussbaum, M. C. (2011). Creating capabilities: The human development approach. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Obidallah M. T. (2015). Success is always a good story to tell : Good Water Neighbors Project (GWN) is one. Ecopeace Middle East. <u>https://ecopeaceme.org/2015/01/18/5120/</u>

Ostrom, E. (1990). Governing the commons: The evolution of institutions for collective action. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Oxfam. (2009). People-centred resilience. Working with vulnerable farmers towards climate change adaptation and food security.

Partey, S. T., Zougmoré, R. B., Ouédraogo, M., & Campbell, B. M. (2018). Developing climate-smart agriculture to face climate variability in West Africa: Challenges and lessons learnt. Journal of cleaner Production, 187, 285-295.

Peters, K., Mayhew, L., Slim, H., Van Aalst, M., & Arrighi, J. (2019). Double vulnerability: The humanitarian implications of intersecting climate and conflict risk. Overseas Development Institute.

Peters, K., Dupar, M., Opitz-Stapleton, S., Lovell, E., Budimir, M., Brown, S., & Cao, Y. (2020). Climate change, conflict and fragility: an evidence review and recommendations for research and action.

Ramirez-Villegas J, Rosenstock T, Steward P, Thornton P, Loboguerrero A, Jarvis A. (2021). Projected climate adaptation benefits of One CGIAR. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS)

Rarai, A., Parsons, M., Nursey-Bray, M., & Crease, R. (2022). Situating climate change adaptation within plural worlds: The role of Indigenous and local knowledge in Pentecost Island, Vanuatu. Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space, 5(4), 2240–2282.

Ratner, B., Meinzen-Dick, R., May, C., & Haglund, E. (2013). Resource conflict, collective action, and resilience: an analytical framework. International Journal of the Commons, 7(1).

Ratner, B., Meinzen-Dick, R., Hellin, J., Mapedza, E., Unruh, J., Veening, W., ... & Bruch, C. (2017). Addressing conflict through collective action in natural resource management. International Journal of the Commons, 11(2).

Rüttinger, L., Janßen, A., Knupp, C., and Griestop, L. (2014). From conflict to collaboration in natural resource management: A handbook and toolkit for practitioners working in aquatic resource systems. Manual. Collaborating for Resilience

Schipper, E. L. F. (2020). Maladaptation: When adaptation to climate change goes very wrong. One Earth, 3(4), 409-414.

Schleussner, C; D. Deryng, S. D'haen, W. Hare, T. Lissner, M. Ly, A. Nauels, M. Noblet, P. Pfleiderer, P. Pringle, M. Rokitzki, F. Saeed, M. Schaeffer, O. Serdeczny, A (2018). Thomas. 1.5°C hotspots: climate hazards, vulnerabilities, and impacts. Ann. Rev. Environ. Resour., 43 (2018), pp. 135-163

Shrivastava, P. (1987) A Cultural Analysis of Conflicts in Industrial Disaster. International journal of mass emergencies and disasters, 5 (3): 243–264.

Siddiqi, A. (2018) Disasters in conflict areas: finding the politics. Disasters, 42 (2018), pp. S161-S172

Simpson, N. P., Mach, K. J., Constable, A., Hess, J., Hogarth, R., Howden, M., ... & Trisos, C. H. (2021). A framework for complex climate change risk assessment. One Earth, 4(4), 489-501.

Smith, H. E., Sallu, S. M., Whitfield, S., Gaworek-Michalczenia, M. F., Recha, J. W., Sayula, G. J., & Mziray, S. (2021). Innovation systems and affordances in climate smart agriculture. Journal of Rural Studies, 87, 199-212.

Sowers and Weinthal (2021) Humanitarian challenges and the targeting of civilian infrastructure in the Yemen war. Accessed at <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/348455746">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/348455746</a> Humanitarian challenges and the targeting of civilian infrastructure <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/348455746">infrastructure</a> in the Yemen war

Stein, S., & Walch, C. (2017, July). The Sendai framework for disaster risk reduction as a tool for conflict prevention. In Conflict prevention and peace forum.

Tänzler, D. (2013) Forests and Conflict: The Relevance of REDD+. Environmental Change and Security Program

Tänzler, D., & Scherer, N. (2019). Guidelines for conflict-sensitive adaptation to climate change. Umweltbundesamt.

Thalheimer, L., & Webersik, C. (2020). Climate Change, Conflicts and Migration. In T. Krieger, D. Panke, & M. Pregernig (Eds.), Environmental Conflicts, Migration and Governance (pp. 59-82). Bristol University Press. doi:10.46692/9781529202175.004

Thornton, P., Dijkman, J., Herrero, M., Szilagyi, L., & Cramer, L. (2022). Aligning vision and reality in publicly funded agricultural research for development: A case study of CGIAR. Food Policy, 107, 102196.

Townsend et al., (2021) FUTURE OF FOOD Building Stronger Food Systems in Fragility, Conflict, and Violence Settings. <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/36497/Future-of-Food-Building-Stronger-Food-Systems-in-</u> <u>Fragility-Conflict-and-Violence-Settings.pdf</u>

Twyman, J., Mwongera, C., Läderach, P., Acosta, M., Ampaire, E., Eitzinger, A., Lamanna, C., Mwungu, C., Shikuku, K., Winowiecki, L. (2017). Design climate-smart agricultural interventions to be gender inclusive. CIAT.

UNEP (2003). Afghanistan post-conflict environmental assessment. Geneva: United Nations Environment Programme.

UNEP (2009). From conflict to peacebuilding: The role of natural resources and the environment. Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme.

Vallet, A., Locatelli, B., Barnaud, C., Makowski, D., Conde, Y. Q., & Levrel, H. (2020). Power asymmetries in social networks of ecosystem services governance. Environmental Science & Policy, 114, 329-340.

van Baalen, S. and Mobjörk, M. (2018) Climate Change and Violent Conflict in East Africa: Integrating Qualitative and Quantitative Research to Probe the Mechanisms. International Studies Review, 20 (4): 547–575. doi:10.1093/isr/vix043.

Vivekananda, J. (2011) Practice Note: Conflict-sensitive Responses to Climate Change in South Asia. International Alert.

von Lossow, T., Schrijver, A., van der Kroon, M., van Schaik, L., & Meester, J. (2021). Towards a Better Understanding of Climate Security Practices. The Clingendael Institute: the Hague.

Walch, C. (2018) Disaster risk reduction amidst armed conflict: informal institutions, rebel groups, and wartime political orders. Disasters, 42 (2018), pp. S239-S264

Williams, P. A., Karanja Ng'ang'a, S., Crespo, O., & Abu, M. (2020). Cost and benefit analysis of adopting climate adaptation practices among smallholders: the case of five selected practices in Ghana. Climate Services, 20, 100198.

Wischnath, G. and Buhaug, H. (2014) Rice or riots: On food production and conflict severity across India. Political Geography, 43: 6–15. doi:10.1016/j.polgeo.2014.07.004

Work, C., Rong, V., Song, D., & Scheidel, A. (2019). Maladaptation and development as usual? Investigating climate change mitigation and adaptation projects in Cambodia. Climate Policy, 19(sup1), S47-S62.

World Bank. (2021). Climate Smart Agriculture. Accessed on: https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/climate-smart-agriculture

World Bank (2022). Defueling conflict: building peace through natural resource governance. <u>https://ieg.worldbankgroup.org/blog/defueling-conflict-building-peace-through-natural-resource-governance</u>

Young, H., & Goldman, L. (2015). Livelihoods, natural resources, and post-conflict peacebuilding. New York: Routledge

Zhukova, E. (2020). Vulnerability. In Humanitarianism, Leiden, The Netherlands: Brill. Available From: Brill <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004431140\_0107</u>

Zikos, D., Sorman, A. H., & Lau, M. (2015). Beyond water security: Asecuritisation and identity in Cyprus. International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics, 15(3), 309-326.